
Graham City Council  
Regular Meeting Agenda 
Tuesday, June 8, 2021 @ 6:00 P.M. 

Meeting called to order by the Mayor 
Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 
Code of Ethics Disclosing Conflicts of Interest: City Clerk 

1. Consent Agenda:
a. Approve Minutes – May 11, 2021 Regular Session
b. Approve Tax Releases
c. Approve FY 2020-2021 Budget Amendments
d. Approve Resolution Establishing the American Rescue Plan Act Local Fiscal Recovery

Fund
e. Authorize the City Manager, City Attorney, and City Clerk to effectuate the purchase of the

properties located off W. Moore Street and Rogers Road identified by Alamance County
Parcel ID#s: 144001, 143995, 143994, 143988, 143983, and 143984 pending the
completion of the due diligence period

f. Approve Graham Police Department’s request to make application for the Community
Oriented Policing Services grant issued by the US Department of Justice

2. Old Business:
a. Public Hearing: CR2006 Truby Apartments. Request by Second Partners, LLC for

Conditional Rezoning for multi-family apartments from Light Industrial for property located
on Truby Drive (GPIN 8894453334)

b. Public Hearing: RZ2104 Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family. Request by Travers Webb for rezoning
to R-MF from I-1 for approximately 11 acres on Jimmie Kerr Road (GPIN 8894469497 &
8894469816)

c. Public Hearing: Request from Charles Limuel Pierce to remove an unconstructed portion
of an unconstructed alleyway off Climax Street

3. Requests & Petitions from Citizens:
a. First Reading: Request from Jeff Collie and Josh Coe to Amend Chapter 8, Article VIII,

Sec. 8-345 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Graham, North Carolina

4. Recommendations from Planning Board:
a. Public Hearing: RZ2105 Poplar Business.  Request by Joseph Mena to rezone 0.15 acres

located at 608 Poplar Street from R-7 (High Density Residential) to B-2 (General
Business) (GPIN 8874861063)

5. Public Hearing: Adoption of Budget Ordinance for FY 2021-2022

6. Board & Commission Appointments:  **seeking reappointment
a. Appearance Commission:

(3 Vacancies) 3 Terms Expire 2024 

Wayne Brewer Zipporah Clark Baldwin 
Carmen Larimore 

b. Historical Museum Advisory Board:
(4 Vacancies) 1 Term Expires 2022 

1 Term Expires 2023 
2 Terms Expire 2024 

Jeanette Beaudry** Nicki Grafos Smith** 
Bernadette Konzelmann Kristofer Loy 
L. Scott Pickard Noelle Purcell 

Page 1 of 138



 
 

c. Historic Resources Commission: 
(4 Vacancies)        1 Term Expires 2022 

          2 Terms Expire 2023 
          1 Term Expires 2025 

Jeanette Beaudry Jerome Bias 
Wayne Brewer Zipporah Clark Baldwin 
Bernadette Konzelmann Bonnie Whitaker 

 
d. Housing Authority: 

(2 Vacancies)        1 Term Expires 2022 
         1 Term Expires 2026 

Lacy Allen Larry Brooks** 
Thomas Foust Shanelle Harvey 

 
e. Planning Board/Board of Adjustment: 

(1 Vacancy)        1 Term Expires 2024 

Jerome Bias Shanelle Harvey 
L. Scott Pickard 

 
f. Recreation Commission: 

(2 Vacancies)        2 Terms Expire 2024 

Amanda Archambeau Tim Beshel** 
Laurie Pickard 

 
g. Tree Board: 

(4 Vacancies)        1 Term Expires 2022 
         1 Term Expires 2023 
         2 Terms Expire 2024 

Megan Buckner Hickman Carmen Larimore 

7. City Manager Search Discussion 

8. Closed Session Pursuant to the Terms of N.C.G.S. §. 143-318-11 (a) (3) To 
consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to 
preserve the attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the public body, 
which privilege is hereby acknowledged 

9. Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda (Public Comment Period) 
 
 
How to Access the June 8, 2021 Meeting: 
 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83859292162?pwd=UEtJNHdZcDhrQlFEUHFvOEdXMUxCZz09 
Passcode: 953780 
Or One tap mobile:  
US: +16465588656,,83859292162# or +13017158592,,83859292162#  
Or Telephone: 
Dial (for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location): 
US: +1 646 558 8656 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799 or +1 669 900 9128 or +1 253 
215 8782 or +1 346 248 7799  
Webinar ID: 838 5929 2162 
International numbers available: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcsbFjKV9s 

Page 2 of 138

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83859292162?pwd=UEtJNHdZcDhrQlFEUHFvOEdXMUxCZz09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/kcsbFjKV9s


155 

CITY OF GRAHAM 
REGULAR SESSION 

TUESDAY, MAY 11, 2021 
6:00 P.M. 

The City Council of the City of Graham met in regular session at 6:00 p.m. on Tuesday, May 11, 2021, 
in the Council Chambers of the Municipal Building located at 201 South Main Street.  Due to the 
Covid-19 Pandemic gathering restrictions, the public was provided information on how to participate 
remotely via livestreaming media. 

Council Members Present:  Staff Present: 
Mayor Jerry Peterman  Aaron Holland, Interim City Manager 
Mayor Pro Tem Chip Turner  Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 
Council Member Melody Wiggins Bryan Coleman, City Attorney 
Council Member Jennifer Talley Bob Ward, City Attorney 
Council Member Ricky Hall  Nathan Page, Planning Director 

Jeff Wilson, IT Systems Manager 
Mary Faucette, Downtown Development Coordinator 
Tommy Cole, Fire Chief 

Mayor Jerry Peterman called the meeting to order and presided at 6:00 p.m.  Council Member Ricky 
Hall gave the invocation and everyone stood to recite the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Code of Ethics Disclosing Conflicts of Interest: 

Council Member Jennifer Talley advised that two people had contacted her about the Windsor 
development on tonight’s agenda and she had directed them to the draft quasi-judicial procedures. 

Consent Agenda: 

a. Approve Minutes – April 13, 2021 Regular Session 
b. Approve Tax Releases 

Page 3 of 138



156 

 

c. Approve Resolution in Support of House Bill 511, STI Funding/Bicycle/Pedestrian 
Improv 

 
d. Approve Resolution Opposing House Bill 401/Senate Bill 349, Increase Housing 

Opportunities 

 

Page 4 of 138



157 

 

e. Approve Resolution Declaring the Intention of the City Council of the City of Graham  to 
Consider the Permanent Closing of a Portion of Alleyway off Climax Street and Setting a 
Public Hearing for June 8, 2021 

 
 

Council Member Hall made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem 
Chip Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Old Business: 

a. Public Hearing: RZ2010 Riverbend Business. Request by G. Travers Webb III to rezone 
a portion of the property located on East Harden Street from R-MF (Multi-Family 
Residential) to B-2 (General Business) (GPIN 8884721949) 

Planning Director Nathan Page explained that this property is surrounded by two development types; 
a large multi-family tract, and suburban residential across Harden Street.  This request is to rezone a 
portion of the property from R-MF to all B-2.  He added that the lot is currently vacant and the stated 
reason for this rezoning request is for “…the entire property covered under one zoning regulation.  
This rezoning should allow for marketing my property for future development.” 
 
With no questions forthcoming from Council Members, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing. 
 
Via the livestream, the following individual expressed concern with the Zoom information for 
tonight’s meeting: 

 Cynthia Thompson 
 

Page 5 of 138



158 

 

The following individual made himself available to answer questions from Council Members via the 
livestream: 

 George Webb 
 
With no questions forthcoming, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing.  Following a brief 
discussion, Council Member Melody Wiggins made a motion that the application be approved, the 
application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable 
and in the public interest for the following reasons: The adjacent multifamily developments, the 
quantity of vehicle traffic, and the size of the Highway 54 corridor suggest that a business may be 
better suited to this site than additional apartments, in alignment with strategies 1.1.5, 2.3.1 and policy 
3.1.2.  Council Member Hall seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

b. Public Hearing: CR2006 Truby Apartments. Request by Second Partners, LLC for 
Conditional Rezoning for multi-family apartments from Light Industrial for property 
located on Truby Drive (GPIN 8894453334) 

Mr. Page explained that this is a request to rezone the subject property from I-1 (Light Industrial) to 
CMXR (Conditional Mixed Use Residential).  The application is for 22 buildings, with 24 units per 
building for a total of 1056 bedrooms.  Mr. Page added that a list of proposed conditions was included 
in the applicant’s request: 

 Access via Truby and an easement 
 Meet all TRC/NCDOT/Etc. standards 
 Meet Graham multifamily standards 
 Include office, clubhouse, pool, recreation areas 
 Three story, mix of one, two, and three bedroom apartments 

 
Council Members and staff discussed staff’s recommendation of denial.  Mr. Page stated that the City 
does not have sufficient sewer capacity to handle that many apartments at that location and staff is 
concerned about the potential traffic impact to the Jimmie Kerr Road/Truby Drive area.  Council 
Members and staff briefly discussed possibly sitting down with this applicant and the applicant for 
RZ2104 Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family on tonight’s agenda to see if it would be beneficial for them to 
work together on one comprehensive plan for that area. 
 
With no further questions forthcoming, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing. 
 
The following individuals addressed this agenda item with Council Members via the livestream: 

Alex Perkins-140 Summerlyn Pl Semora NC John Burton-2849 Burlington  
George Webb Tom Boney-Alamance News 

 
Council Members discussed the request in length with applicants Mr. Perkins and Mr. Burton.  At the 
center of the discussion was the insufficient sewer capacity and how to resolve that.  Staff estimated 
that it would take north of $3 million to upgrade the Cooper Road pump station.  Mr. Holland advised 
that it is up to Council as to whether or not they choose to invest City funds into this project.  Mr. 
Boney of the Alamance News asked how many gallons is equated with the $3 million estimate.   

Page 6 of 138



159 

 

Mr. Page advised that he did not know the gallon amount, but $3 million is what the City’s Engineer 
estimated for the addition of 500 apartment homes.  At the end of the discussion, Mr. Perkins advised 
that they would prefer that Council table this request versus denial and provide time for the developers 
to meet with staff to go over options.   
 
With no further discussion forthcoming, Mayor Peterman made a motion to postpone this item for 
one month, to next month’s meeting, seconded by Council Member Talley.  All voted in favor of the 
motion. 

c. Second Reading: Temporary Outdoor Sales. Request by Patrick Miller to amend Chapter 
8, Article VIII, Sec. 8-345 of the Code Of Ordinances Of The City Of Graham, North 
Carolina 

Mr. Page explained that this request by Patrick Miller is to relax the existing ordinance pertaining to 
Temporary Outdoor Sales, to allow Mr. Miller the ability to operate his own food truck on his own 
lot for five out of seven days per week.  Mr. Page advised that the sunset date included in the ordinance 
is June 1, 2021. 
 
With no discussion forthcoming, Mayor Pro Tem Turner made a motion to approve the Ordinance 
Amendment to CHAPTER 8, ARTICLE VIII, SEC. 8-345 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA, seconded by Mayor Peterman.  Ayes: Mayor 
Pro Tem Turner and Mayor Peterman.  Nays: Council Member Wiggins, Council Member Talley and 
Council Member Hall.  Motion failed 3:2. 
 
Council Member Wiggins made a motion approve the Ordinance Amendment to CHAPTER 8, 
ARTICLE VIII, SEC. 8-345 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, 
NORTH CAROLINA with the sunset date of August 1, 2021.  Motion died for lack of second. 

d. Public Hearing: AM2101 160D. A comprehensive update to the Development Ordinance, 
as required by the North Carolina General Assembly 

Mr. Page that the North Carolina General Assembly has changed the enabling legislation for all 
municipalities and counties.  As this is the law from which all of our authority is delegated, we are 
required to update our regulations, or be at risk of not being in compliance with state law.  Mr. Page 
advised that the deadline for Council to adopt this is July 1, 2021. 
 
Following a brief discussion between Council Members and staff about the proposed changes being 
unique to Graham, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing.  With no comments forthcoming, he 
closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Council Member Wiggins made a motion that the text amendment be approved, the text amendment 
is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the 
public interest for the following reason: The proposed amendment brings us into alignment with the 
new 160D regulations.  Council Member Hall seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the 
motion. 

 

 

Page 7 of 138



160 

 

Requests & Petitions from Citizens: 

a. Whit’s Staircase Encroachment.  Request by Chuck Talley for an encroachment license 
agreement for the installation of a staircase on the North side of the building located at 
21 SE Court Square 

Interim City Manager Aaron Holland explained that the requested action is to authorize the City 
Manager and City Attorney to enter into an encroachment license agreement with Chuck Talley to 
construct architectural staircase on North side of the 21 SE Court Square property.  He added that 
Chuck Talley has submitted a written request and supporting photos for a proposed staircase to be 
installed on the north side of the 21 SE Court Square building.  The proposed staircase will be 
approximately 4 foot wide and 20 foot in length.  Mr. Holland advised that the intent of the installation 
is to access the 2nd floor patio (roof top).  An encroachment license agreement approved by City 
Council is required pursuant to Sec. 18-2(c) of the City’s Code of Ordinances.  Mr. Holland informed 
Council that the Historic Resources Commission met on April 6th, 2021 and approved the 
architectural design of the staircase. 

Prior to discussion, Council Member Talley asked that she be recused.  All Council Members voted 
for recusal.  Council Member Wiggins expressed concern with the only street level encroachments the 
City has approved have all been for the Talley’s.  She expressed concern that we are setting a precedent 
that anyone can use the right-of-way for personal use.   

With no further discussion forthcoming, Mayor Pro Tem Turner made a motion to authorize the City 
Manager and City Attorney to enter into an encroachment license agreement with Chuck Talley for 
the installation of a staircase on the North side of the building located at 21 SE Court Square as 
identified by the submitted photos with the following condition(s): 

 Provide proof and maintenance of $1,000,000 in liability insurance with the City as 
additional insured. 

 Provide a final survey to confirm approved use of public space.  
 Improvements under the Encroachment License must be made prior to the expiration of 

the building permit. 

Council Member Hall seconded the motion.  Ayes: Mayor Pro Tem Turner, Council Member Hall 
and Mayor Peterman.  Nays: Council Member Wiggins.  Motion carried 3:1.  Council Member Talley 
returned to her seat.  At 7:34 p.m., Mayor Peterman called for a 10 minute recess.  At 7:46 p.m., Mayor 
Peterman reconvened the meeting. 

Recommendations from Planning Board: 

a. Public Hearing: CR2002a Riley’s Meadow. Request by Michael & Carolyn White, Trustee 
to change access drive location for Riley’s Meadow, based on NCDOT request (GPIN 
8893856817) 

Mr. Page advised that per NCDOT, the road has to move.  He added that everything else that was 
previously approved is exactly the same. 
 

Page 8 of 138



161 

 

With no questions forthcoming, Mayor Peterman opened the Public Hearing. 
 
The following individual addressed this agenda item with Council Members: 

Tony Tate-5011 Southpark Dr. Durham 
 
Mr. Tate was asked how far he had to move the road and he answered 150 feet.  With no further 
questions forthcoming, Mayor Peterman closed the Public Hearing. 
 
Council Member Wiggins made a motion that the application be approved, the application is 
consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the 
public interest for the following reasons: Rezoning the property would be in consistence with Policy 
3.2.1, 5.2.1, and Strategy 4.3.1 of The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan.  Mayor Pro Tem Turner 
seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the motion. 

b. Public Hearing: RZ2104 Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family. Request by Travers Webb for 
rezoning to R-MF from I-1 for approximately 11 acres on Jimmie Kerr Road (GPIN 
8894469497 & 8894469816) 

Mr. Page explained that this is a request to rezone the property from I-1 to R-MF.  The property 
currently is vacant, and is surrounded by general business and industrial districts, including a hotel, 
truck stop, and packaging facility, the latter two of which signal frequent semi-truck traffic along this 
portion of Jimmie Kerr Road.  Mr. Page added that while this meets many of the standards of The 
Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan, the potential magnitude of the density of development, unknown 
site layout, the limited sewer capacity, and the potential traffic issues suggest that this development 
may be better served by one comprehensive Conditional Zoning for the entire region. 
 
The following individuals addressed this agenda item with Council Members: 

John Burton George Webb-129 Hudson St. 
 
Mr. Webb stated that he believed this parcel was a crucial piece to developing this parcel and the ones 
behind it.  He stated he is hoping to work with the City on sewer calculations.  Following a brief 
discussion about postponing this item to allow for all parties to meet to discuss the sewer issues, Mayor 
Peterman made a motion to postpone this item until next month’s meeting, seconded by Council 
Member Hall.  All voted in favor of the motion.  

c. S2101 Huntington Hills. Request by Don Sever for single family detached subdivision for 
95 lots on 34 acres (GPIN 8894032541) 

 
Mr. Page explained that this is request to create a new major subdivision on approximately 35 acres 
with 95 single family lots.  He advised that the area was rezoned within the past couple of years and 
the request is for a regular single family detached subdivision and not an open space subdivision.  
 
The following individual addressed this agenda item with Council Members: 

Don Sever-1110 Navaho Dr. Raleigh 
 

Page 9 of 138



162 

 

Following a brief discussion between Mr. Sever and Council Members, Mayor Pro Tem Turner made 
a motion that the application be approved, the application is consistent with The Graham 2035 
Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following 
reasons: 3.2.1 and 3.2.3.  Council Member Hall seconded the motion and all voted in favor of the 
motion. 
d. Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing: SUP2101 Windsor Oakmont Subdivision. Request for 

Special Use Permit by Amanda Hodierne, Windsor Investments for townhomes on R-12 
lots (GPIN 8883100157 & 8883000530) 
 

City Attorney Bryan Coleman read the following statement: 

This hearing is a quasi-judicial evidentiary hearing.  That means it is like a court hearing.  State law sets specific 
procedures and rules concerning how this board must make its decision. These rules are different from other types of land 
use decisions like rezoning cases.  

The Council’s discretion is limited.  The Council must base its decision upon competent, relevant, and substantial evidence 
in the record.  It is a decision that must be based on the standards in the ordinance and based on the facts presented.  If 
you will be speaking as a witness, please focus on the facts and standards, not personal preference or opinion.  

This meeting is open to the public.  However, participation is limited.  Parties with standing have rights to present 
evidence, call witnesses, and make legal arguments.  Parties are limited to the applicant, the local government, and 
individuals who can show they will suffer special damages.  Other individuals may serve as witnesses when called by the 
City Council.  General witness testimony is limited to facts, no opinions.  For certain topics, this Council needs to hear 
opinion testimony from expert witnesses.  These topics include predictions about impacts on property values and predictions 
about impacts of increased traffic.  Individuals providing expert opinion must be qualified as experts and provide the 
factual evidence upon which they base their expert opinion. 

Witnesses must swear or affirm their testimony.  At this time the City Clerk will administer the oath for all individuals 
who intend to provide witness testimony. 

Mr. Mayor polled the council for any bias or fixed opinions, conflicts of interest, ex-parte 
communications, or site visits.  No comments were forthcoming.  

City Clerk Darcy Sperry swore in the following individuals who were present in the Council Chambers 
and addressed this agenda item with Council Members: 

Nathan Page Amanda Hodierne-804 Green Valley Rd. Greensboro 
Homer Wade-621 Eugene Ct. Greensboro Lisa Lundeen-304 W. Millbrook Rd. Raleigh 
Glenn Patterson-885 Cheeks Lane 
Graham 

 
Mr. Mayor polled the council for any bias or fixed opinions, conflicts of interest, ex-parte 
communications, or site visits.  Mayor Peterman stated that he had read the 163 letters of opposition 
uploaded to the Council’s IPads.  Mayor Pro Tem Turner confirmed he had read the letters as well.  
Council Member Talley re-iterated that someone had called her and she directed them to the quasi-
judicial procedures.  Council Members decided that if no one from the public reads the letter template 
Council received, the City Clerk would read the template for the record.   

Page 10 of 138



163 

 

Mayor Peterman advised that he had watched the Planning Board meeting until this item came on.  
Council Member Talley advised that she watched some of the Planning Board meeting.  Council 
Members who spoke up all said that what they had read, seen or heard would not affect their decision.  

Ms. Sperry swore in the following individuals who joined the livestream and addressed this agenda 
items with Council Members: 

Joann Henry-504 Grandview Dr. Graham Robyn Ferguson-592 Grandview Dr. Graham 
Cynthia Thompson-1904 Palmer Dr. Graham Charles Smith-616 Whisper Ridge Dr. Graham 
Genet Beauclair-616 Whisper Ridge Dr. Graham Larry Durham-1904 Palmer Dr. Graham 
Vance Evans-1810 Springmeadow Dr. Graham Conrad Collins-638 Whisper Ridge Dr. Graham 
Paul Smart-556 Little Creek Dr. Graham Kevin Moss-705 Whisper Ridge Dr. Graham 
James Peck-617 Whisper Ridge Dr. Graham Margaret Moody-1802 Meadowview Dr. 

Graham 
Angela Parsons-506 Wildwood Ln. Graham Martin Shoffner-611 Westridge Dr. Burlington 

 
Mr. Page explained that this is a request for a Special Use Permit for Dwelling, Townhouse for adjacent 
properties located at 0 Little Creek Drive and 0 Broadway Drive.  The sites are currently vacant.  The 
combined sites are just over 59 acres.  He added that the plan would permit up to 70 townhouses and 
109 single family lots in the proposed subdivision. As indicated in the preliminary site plan, the 
proposed townhouses would be clustered in the northern portion of the property, close to existing 
townhouses to the north of the subject property.  Mr. Page advised that a landscaping buffer has been 
proposed along the exterior of the townhome property. 
 
With no questions forthcoming and without objection, Mayor Peterman opened the Quasi-Judicial 
Public Hearing. 
 
Ms. Hodierne, attorney for the applicant, spoke on behalf of the applicant.  She reviewed the Draft 
Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law and introduced herself (planning), Mr. Wade (survey engineer), 
Ms. Lundeen (traffic) and Mr. Patterson (property appraisal) as qualified expert witnesses for the 
applicant.  All offered expert testimony, in their respective fields, on behalf of the applicant.  Mayor 
Peterman acknowledged and accepted their testimony as expert testimony.  Mayor Pro Tem Turner 
asked the expert witnesses about stormwater control measures, while Council Member Talley asked 
questions about setbacks, lot sizes, a similar project from 2020, communication with neighborhood 
residents, and open space.  Council Member Talley expressed concern with various aspects of the 
request. 
 
All of the residents, with the exception of Mr. Shoffner, who addressed this agenda item via the 
livestream spoke in opposition of this request.  At the conclusion of the livestream comments, Ms. 
Hodierne responded to concerns expressed by speakers.  With no further comments forthcoming, 
Mayor Peterman closed the Quasi-Judicial Public Hearing. 
 
Council Member Talley again expressed her concerns with the request, while Mayor Peterman, Mayor 
Pro Tem Turner, Council Member Wiggins and Council Member Hall stated they felt the applicant 
had met the six requirements for the Special Use Permit.   
 

Page 11 of 138



164 

 

Following the discussion, Council Member Talley made a motion to recommend denial based on the 
fact that the development is not consistent with The 2035 Plan, its principal use predominantly 
detached single family homes, new neighborhoods may include a range of duplexes, townhomes, small 
scale family dwellings of 12 units or less and that it does not meet the harmonious consistency with 
item number five, the location and character of the usage developed according to The Plan will be in 
harmony with the area in which it will be located in general conformity with The Plan of the 
development of the Graham planning area.  The motion failed to get a second and therefore died.  
Council Member Wiggins made a motion that the application be approved as presented, move to 
adopt the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law as presented in the staff report, the application is 
consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this action is reasonable and in the 
public interest for the following reasons: The development furthers goals of The Graham 2035 
Comprehensive Plan and is in conformance with the Suburban Residential development type.  The 
development meets all six conditions required by Section 10.144 of the Development Ordinance.  
Mayor Pro Tem Turner seconded the motion.  Ayes: Council Member Wiggins, Mayor Pro Tem 
Turner, Mayor Peterman and Council Member Hall.  Nays: Council Member Talley.  Motion carried 
4:1. 
  
At 10:39 p.m., Mayor Peterman called for a 10 minute recess and at 10:51 p.m., he reconvened the 
meeting. 

e. S2102 Windsor Oakmont. Request for major subdivision by David Michaels, Windsor 
Investments. Approximately 179 homes on 59.35 acres (GPIN 8883100157& 8883000530) 
 

Mr. Page explained this is a request to create a new major subdivision on approximately 59 acres with 
179 new lots (109 single family detached and 70 townhouses). 
 
With no questions forthcoming, Council Member Wiggins made a motion that the application be 
approved, the application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and that this 
action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: Allowing a higher density 
subdivision in this location removes households from the potential harm from floodways (4.3.1), 
protects greenspace and promotes a greenway trail system (3.2.4, 4.2.1).  Mayor Pro Tem Turner 
seconded the motion.  Ayes: Council Member Wiggins, Mayor Pro Tem Turner, Mayor Peterman and 
Council Member Hall.  Nays: Council Member Talley.  Motion carried 4:1. 

Historical Museum Advisory Board Appointments: 

Council Member Hall made a motion to table this until the next meeting, seconded by Mayor 
Peterman.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

City Manager Search Discussion: 

Mayor Peterman asked the Council for permission to go ahead and set up a job description ready for 
Council Members next month.  Council Member Hall made a motion to allow Mayor Peterman to set 
up the job description, seconded by Council Member Turner.  All voted in favor of the motion. 

 

Page 12 of 138



165 

 

Closed Session Pursuant to the Terms of N.C.G.S. §. 143-318-11 (a) (5) To 
establish, or to instruct the public body's staff or negotiating agents concerning 
the position to be taken by or on behalf of the public body in negotiating the 
price and other material terms of a contract or proposed contract for the 
acquisition of real property by purchase, option, exchange, or lease: 

Mayor Peterman stated he felt this discussion could take place in open session and without objection 
from Council Members, asked Mr. Holland to review what Council had instructed staff to do in last 
month’s closed session.   

Mr. Holland advised that staff was tasked with looking at the possibility of other properties that could 
be purchased for a fire substation.  He informed Council that at their request, realtor Gary Renigar 
was asked to help identify other properties.  Mr. Holland advised that negotiations on the property 
brought to Council last month by Fire Chief Tommy Cole did not result in any viable options.  The 
owner of that property is standing firm with their $225,000 asking price.  Mr. Renigar did propose two 
other properties.  Fire Chief Cole stated that he and Public Works Director Burke Robertson went 
and looked at the other two properties and both felt neither would work.  The three properties 
identified were: 

a. Property off Moore Street (parcels 19384, 143994, 143995, 144001 & 143988) 
Owner: DDJS Properties LLC 

b. Property off Moore Street (parcel 131864) 
Owner: Zaib Bhatti 

c. Property off intersection of Moore Street and Hanford Road (parcel 131950) 
Owner: Debra Boone 

Council Members and staff discussed the three properties identified, with parcel “a” being the property 
Chief Cole discussed with Council Members during closed session on May 11, 2021.  Council Member 
Talley expressed concern for paying the full asking price for property “a”, when the appraisal came 
back at $146,000.  Mr. Holland advised that Mr. Renigar said he was not surprised at the price tag for 
property “a”.  Mayor Peterman stated that we are past due for a substation and we need to build one 
now.  Council Member Talley stated that she was in favor of pursuing the Bhatti property.  She asked 
Chief Cole if Council wasn’t agreeable to the $225,000 price, what his second option would be.  Chief 
Cole said none of the other options are viable for what we need.  Council Member Hall stated that he 
did not want the property owner to receive any tax credits off the citizens of Graham.  Mayor 
Peterman advised that the City would be buying this property outright.  Chief Cole stated that the 
owner has asked for $1,500 earnest money.  Mr. Holland advised that the $1,500 would allow time for 
the City to do their due diligence with this property.  He also stated that the funds are included in the 
FY 2020-2021 Budget. 

Mayor Peterman made a motion to pay the $1,500 earnest money and sign a contract for property “a”, 
seconded by Council Member Wiggins.  Prior to the vote, Council Member Talley asked Mayor 
Peterman if he wanted to make a lower offer.  Mayor Peterman stated that we already had and the 
seller will not take anything lower.  Ayes: Mayor Peterman, Council Member Wiggins, Mayor Pro Tem 
Turner and Council Member Hall.  Nays: Council Member Talley.  Motion carried 4:1.   

Page 13 of 138



166 

 

Following the vote, Council Member Talley asked Council Member Hall how he voted.  Council 
Member Hall stated he voted no.  Mayor Peterman then declared that the motion carried 3:2. 

Mr. Boney inquired about what document the Council Members were referring to when referencing 
properties by “a”, “b” and “c”.  Mayor Peterman asked staff to email Mr. Boney a copy of the 
document. 

Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda (Public Comment Period): 

Mr. Holland announced that the recommended budget for FY 2021-2022 has been presented to 
Council.   

He thanked Finance Director Julianne Cordon, the department heads, Leamon Brice, consultant with 
N-Focus and former City Manager Frankie Maness for all of their help with getting this recommended 
budget balanced.  Mr. Ho0lland advised that he will be reaching out to Council Members to set 
dates/times for him to review the budget with them individually.  Mr. Boney expressed concern with 
staff meeting individually with Council Members.  Mayor Peterman asked the City Attorneys to look 
into Mr. Boney’s concern and advise if Council needs to do something different. 

Downtown Development Coordinator Mary Faucette read an email from Jeff Collie and Josh Coe of 
Little Brothers Brewing, in which they have requested consideration to permit the periodic parking of 
food trucks/trailers in parking spaces along West Elm Street adjacent to their storefront.  Mayor 
Peterman asked staff to put something together for Council to consider next month. 
 
Ms. Sperry read an email she received from Bobby Minor of Old Farm Drive Graham in which he 
suggested renaming Graham Regional Park to Wyatt Outlaw Park. 
 
Ms. Sperry also publicly thanked the City for their acts of kindness and support shown to her and her 
family during the recent passing of her Mother. 
 
Mr. Boney asked if business owners would be notified about the requests for food trucks Ms. Faucette 
spoke about.  He stated that he would be against food trucks taking up parking spaces that businesses 
need.  
 
Council Member Talley invited everyone to a live concert this coming Saturday on East Elm Street.  
The concert will start at 7:00, there will be a car cruise in at 4:00 and there will be a job fair at 4:00. 
 
Mayor Peterman asked Mrs. Faucette to inform everyone about the Thursdays at 7 Concert series 
hosted by the Recreation Department.  Ms. Faucette stated that in order to adhere to the Governors 
mass gathering orders, the concert will be held at Bill Cooke Park instead of downtown.  More 
information will be going out tomorrow. 
 
At 11:33 p.m., Mayor Pro Tem Turner made a motion to adjourn, seconded by Council Member Hall. 
All voted in favor of the motion. 
 

                          ______________________________ 
              Darcy Sperry, City Clerk 

Page 14 of 138



Page 15 of 138



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: BUDGET AMENDMENTS FY 2020-2021 

PREPARED BY: JULIANNE CORDON – FINANCE DIRECTOR 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Adopt Budget Amendment Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The attached Budget Amendment Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2020-2021 reflects the changes estimated to be 
necessary in the budget to meet the City’s needs for the year ending June 30, 2021. These amendments generally 
allocate funds to specific departments that have had unexpected expenses or to account for actual receipts.  Many 
are offset by a corresponding revenue.  The amendments are sometimes referred to as “clean-up” amendments. 

The proposed budget amendment ordinance, like the original budget, does not appropriate funds on a line by line 
basis (object basis), but rather on a departmental basis.   

FISCAL IMPACT: 

None of the amendments will result in a situation where overall expenditures will exceed revenues.  Many other 
departments are expected to experience underruns.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we adopt the Budget Amendment Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2020-2021. 

Page 16 of 138



 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL of the City of Graham that

Section 1.  
GENERAL FUND
DEPARTMENT   APPROVED   AMENDED

City Council 44,600.00                               184,600.00                     
Administrative 616,500.00                            616,500.00                     
Information Technologies 384,000.00                            384,000.00                     
Finance 394,900.00                            394,900.00                     
Public Building & Ground 132,600.00                            127,600.00                     
Police Department 4,385,300.00                         4,385,300.00                  
Fire Department 1,553,300.00                         1,553,300.00                  
Inspections 550,600.00                            540,600.00                     
Traffic Engineering 92,000.00                               37,000.00                        
Garage Warehouse 95,300.00                               95,300.00                        
Street Department 1,514,300.00                         1,569,300.00                  
Street Lights 132,000.00                            111,500.00                     
Sanitation 872,400.00                            872,400.00                     
Recreation 917,900.00                            917,900.00                     
Graham-Mebane Lake 177,400.00                            184,900.00                     
Athletic Facil ities 392,300.00                            392,300.00                     
Property Maintenance 758,900.00                            746,900.00                     
Non-Departmental 1,053,500.00                         953,500.00                     

14,067,800.00                       14,067,800.00                

Section 3.
WATER & WASTWATER
EXPENDITURES   APPROVED   AMENDED

Water Bil l ing 415,500.00                            428,000.00                     
W&S Distribution 1,860,300.00                         1,860,300.00                  
Maintenance & Lift Stations 221,800.00                            221,800.00                     
Water Treatment Plant 2,011,100.00                         2,011,100.00                  
Wastwater Treatment plant 1,586,600.00                         1,586,600.00                  
Non-Departmental 2,055,500.00                         2,043,000.00                  

8,150,800.00                         8,150,800.00                  

Section 7
CAPITAL PROJECTS AND
OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS
REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES   APPROVED   AMENDED

State Drug Funds 100.00                                    11,000.00                        
Federal Drug Funds 100.00                                    34,000.00                        

200.00                                    45,000.00                        

Adopted this 8th day of June 2021.

Attest: Mayor Jerry Peterman

CITY OF GRAHAM
BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE

2020-2021

 the 2020 - 2021  Budget Ordinance shall be and is hereby  amended as follows: 

Page 17 of 138



BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL of the City of Graham that
the 2013 - 2014 Budget Ordinance shall be and is hereby amended as follows:

Section 1.  
NET

GENERAL FUND INCREASE
DEPARTMENT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

City Council 46,800.00                   47,900.00                    1,100.00           
Administrative 403,500.00                 382,600.00                  20,900.00           
Information Technologies 127,500.00                 140,400.00                  12,900.00         
Finance 345,500.00                 361,175.00                  15,675.00         
Public Building & Ground 161,400.00                 152,000.00                  9,400.00             
Police Department 3,169,400.00              3,207,250.00               37,850.00         
Fire Department 1,296,100.00              1,318,335.00               22,235.00         
Inspections 300,300.00                 307,700.00                  7,400.00           
Traffic Engineering 31,000.00                   31,000.00                    
Garage Warehouse 79,500.00                   112,450.00                  32,950.00         
Street Department 1,323,737.50              1,271,337.50               52,400.00           
Street Lights 99,000.00                   127,750.00                  28,750.00         
Sanitation 859,100.00                 859,170.00                  70.00                
Recreation 762,500.00                 818,600.00                  56,100.00         
Graham-Mebane Lake 124,700.00                 131,500.00                  6,800.00           
Athletic Facilities 166,000.00                 166,000.00                  -                   
Property Maintenance 631,700.00                 640,700.00                  9,000.00           
Non-Departmental 733,500.00                 721,000.00                  12,500.00           

10,661,237.50            10,796,867.50             230,830.00       95,200.00           135,630.00      

Page 18 of 138



NET
WATER &  SEWER FUND INCREASE
DEPARTMENT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Water Billing & Metering 630,200.00                 633,700.00                  3,500.00           
Water & Sewer Distribution 943,200.00                 943,200.00                  
Maintenance & Lift Stations 278,900.00                 278,900.00                  
Water Treatment 1,470,000.00              1,470,000.00               
Wastewater Treatment 1,050,700.00              1,050,700.00               
Non-Departmental 1,742,800.00              1,739,300.00               3,500.00             

6,115,800.00              6,115,800.00               3,500.00           3,500.00             -                  

NET
INCREASE

GARAGE FUND   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

City Garage 993,200.00                 1,021,700.00               28,500.00         -                     28,500.00        

Page 19 of 138



NET
INCREASE

Section 4.  - REVENUES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

General Fund 10,661,237.50            10,796,867.50             135,630.00       -                     135,630.00      

Water  &  Sewer  Fund 6,115,800.00              6,115,800.00               -                   -                     -                  

Garage Fund 993,200.00                 1,021,700.00               28,500.00         -                     28,500.00        

Section 8.

CAPITAL PROJECTS AND
OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)

Federal Drug Monies 120,500                      120,500                       -                   -                     
State Drug Monies 6,100                         6,100                           -                   -                     
Miscellaneous Grants 8,375                         8,375                           -                   -                     

Page 20 of 138



BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL of the City of Graham that

Section 1.  
GENERAL FUND INCREASE
DEPARTMENT   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

City Council 44,600.00                                  184,600.00                         140,000.00               Lawyer Fees
Administrative 616,500.00                                616,500.00                         
Information Technologies 384,000.00                                384,000.00                         
Finance 394,900.00                                394,900.00                         
Public Building & Ground 132,600.00                                127,600.00                         5,000.00                      Salaries
Police Department 4,385,300.00                             4,385,300.00                     
Fire Department 1,553,300.00                             1,553,300.00                     
Inspections 550,600.00                                540,600.00                         10,000.00                    Pro. Services
Traffic Engineering 92,000.00                                  37,000.00                           55,000.00                    Traffic Light Project Pushed
Garage Warehouse 95,300.00                                  95,300.00                           
Street Department 1,514,300.00                             1,569,300.00                     55,000.00                 Paving
Street Lights 132,000.00                                111,500.00                         20,500.00                    Utilities Under
Sanitation 872,400.00                                872,400.00                         
Recreation 917,900.00                                917,900.00                         
Graham-Mebane Lake 177,400.00                                184,900.00                         7,500.00                   Tree Removal
Athletic Facilities 392,300.00                                392,300.00                         
Property Maintenance 758,900.00                                746,900.00                         12,000.00                    Truck vs. Mower
Non-Departmental 1,053,500.00                             953,500.00                         100,000.00                 Incentive

14,067,800.00                           14,067,800.00                   202,500.00               202,500.00                 -                            

Section 3.
WATER & WASTWATER INCREASE
EXPENDITURES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

Water Billing 415,500.00                                428,000.00                         12,500.00                 Bank Fees
W&S Distribution 1,860,300.00                             1,860,300.00                     
Maintenance & Lift Stations 221,800.00                                221,800.00                         
Water Treatment Plant 2,011,100.00                             2,011,100.00                     
Wastwater Treatment plant 1,586,600.00                             1,586,600.00                     
Non-Departmental 2,055,500.00                             2,043,000.00                     12,500.00                    Retirement Sick Pay

8,150,800.00                             8,150,800.00                     12,500.00                 12,500.00                    -                            

Section 7
CAPITAL PROJECTS AND NET
OTHER SPECIAL FUNDS INCREASE
REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES   APPROVED   AMENDED   INCREASE  ( DECREASE)  ( DECREASE)

State Drug Funds 100.00                                        11,000.00                           10,900.00                 
Federal Drug Funds 100.00                                        34,000.00                           33,900.00                 

200.00                                        45,000.00                           44,800.00                 -                                44,800.00               

Adopted this 8th day of June 2021.

Attest: Mayor Jerry Peterman

CITY OF GRAHAM
BUDGET AMENDMENT ORDINANCE

2020-2021

 the 2020 - 2021  Budget Ordinance shall be and is hereby  amended as follows: 

Page 21 of 138



STAFF REPORT 
SUBJECT: AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT – LOCAL FISCAL RECOVERY FUND 

PREPARED BY: JULIANNE CORDON, FINANCE OFFICER 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Adopt the Resolution Establishing the American Rescue Plan Act Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 
On March 11,2021, the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) was signed into law by the President.  Section 9901 of ARPA 
amended Title VI of the Social Security Act (the Act) to add section 602, which established the Coronavirus State Fiscal 
Recovery Fund, and section 603, which established the Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (together, the Fiscal Recovery 
Funds).  The Fiscal Recovery Funds are intended to provide support to State, local, Tribal governments in responding to the 
impact of COVID-19 and in their efforts to contain COVID-19 on their communities, residents, and businesses.  The Fiscal 
Recover Funds build on and expand the support provided to these governments over the last year, including through the 
Coronavirus Relief Fund (CRF). 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
Sections 602 and 603 of the Act provide for Treasury to make payments directly to States, territories, Tribal governments, 
and various local governments.  Congress also provided for Treasury to make payments to States to allocate this funding to 
smaller units of general local governments called non-entitlement units (NEUs) with populations of less than 50,000 residents. 
A State is required to allocate and distribute the Local Fiscal Recovery Fund payment received from the Treasury to each NEU 
in the State an amount that bears the same proportion to the amount of such payment as the population of the NEU bears 
to the total population of all the NEUs in the State. Each State has 30 days to distribute these funds to NEUs, but Treasury 
may provide extensions of this deadline. Payment distribution will be made in two tranches, with the Second Tranche 
payment to be made no later than 12 months after the date on the First Tranche payment. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve the Resolution Establishing the American Rescue Plan Act Local Fiscal Recovery Fund. 

Page 22 of 138



RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE CORONAVIRUS RELIEF FUND (CRF) 
      
WHEREAS, On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) was signed into law by the 
President; 
 
WHEREAS, Section 9901 of ARPA amended Title VI of the Social Security Act (the Act) to add section 
602, which establishes the Coronavirus State Fiscal Recovery Fund, and section 603, which established the 
Coronavirus Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (together, the Fiscal Recovery Funds); 
 
WHEREAS, A State is required to allocate and distribute the Local Fiscal Recovery Fund payment received 
from the Treasury to each non-entitlement unit (NEU) in the State an amount that bears the same 
proportion to the amount of such payment as the population of the NEU bears to the total population of all 
the NEUs in the State. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
GRAHAM THAT: 
 
Section 1. The City Council of the City of Graham hereby creates an American Rescue Plan Act Local 
Fiscal Recovery Fund.  
 
Section 2. Per the estimate released by Congressional staff, an appropriation in the amount of $4,580,000 is 
hereby provided in the fund for the purpose of responding to the impact of COVID-19 and in efforts to 
contain COVID-19 on our communities, residents, and businesses. 
 
Section 3. This fund shall remain effective until further notice.  
 
Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective and binding upon its adoption. 
  
 
This the _8th_ day of _June __, 2021. 
 
 
 
                                                                     _________________________ 
                                                                      Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
City Clerk 

Page 23 of 138



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: MOORE ST FIRE STATION APPROVAL TO PURCHASE 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, INTERIM CITY MANAGER 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Approve the purchase of vacant property off W. Moore Street and Rogers Road for location of future fire station. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

On May 11, 2021, the City Council approved the authorization 
of the City Manager and City Attorney to enter into contract 
with the owners (DDJS Properties, LLC) of the vacant property 
located off W. Moore St and Rogers Rd. The properties, 
(identified by PIDs: 144001, 143995, 143994, 143988, 143983, 
and 143984), have been recommended by staff as the location 
for the site of the proposed fire station after consideration of 
other available properties within the vicinity.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The purchase price for the property is $225,000 with additional funds needed for due diligence. Funds needed for 
this purchase were available in the FY 2020-21 adopted budget. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to authorize the City Manager, City Attorney, and City Clerk to effectuate the purchase of the properties 
located off W. Moore Street and Rogers Road identified by Alamance County Parcel ID#s: 144001, 143995, 143994, 
143988, 143983, and 143984 pending the completion of the due diligence period.  

Page 24 of 138



Page 25 of 138



Page 26 of 138



Page 27 of 138



Page 28 of 138



Page 29 of 138



Page 30 of 138



Page 31 of 138



Page 32 of 138



Page 33 of 138



5/24/2021

Page 34 of 138



Page 35 of 138



Page 36 of 138



Page 37 of 138



Joseph L Sizemore IV
President
5/24/2021

Page 38 of 138



Page 39 of 138



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: COPS OFFICE HIRING PROGRAM SOLICITATION 

PREPARED BY: CAPTAIN DANIEL SISK 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Approval to apply for the Community Oriented Policing Services (COPS) grant issued by the US 
Department of Justice.   

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The US Department of Justice is issuing a discretionary grant to fund personnel for the purpose of 
community oriented policing services.  The goal of the COPS hiring program is to provide funding directly 
to law enforcement agencies to hire and/or rehire additional career law enforcement officers in an 
effort to increase their community policing capacity and crime prevention efforts.  Program awards 
include: 

• Engagement in planned community partnerships
• Implementation of projects to analyze and assess problems
• Implementation of changes to personnel and agency management in support of community

policing
• Increase capacity of agency to engage community policing activities

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The grant will fund up to 75% of the entry level salary of an officer for 3 years with at least a 25% 
percent cash match by the awarded agency and a stipulation that the positions are to be funded for at 
least one year at the conclusion of the grant cycle. The police department intends to request funding for 
six fulltime officers.  

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval.  The grant provides a mechanism to increase the workforce quickly while allowing time for city 
officials to gradually increase revenue to fully fund the needed positions. This will provide the needed 
positions to better engage with the community members to increase agency trust and legitimacy.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move we approve for the Graham Police Department to make application for the Community Oriented 
Policing Services grant issued by the US Department of Justice. 

Page 40 of 138



STAFF REPORT 
Prepared by Nathan Page, Planning Director

Truby Apartments (CR2006) 

Type of Request: Conditional Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on January 19, 2021 
City Council on 2/9, 3/9, 4/13, 5/11 & 6/8, 2021 

Contact Information 
Travers Webb 
trav93@icloud.com, 336-414-7777 
619 E Harden Street, Graham NC 27253 

Summary 
This is a request to rezone the subject property from I-1 to CMXR 
(Conditional Mixed Use Residential). The application is for 22 
buildings, with 24 units per building for a total of 1056 bedrooms. A 
list of proposed conditions was included: 

1.) Access via Truby and an easement 
2.) Meet all TRC/NCDOT/Etc standards 
3.) Meet Graham multifamily standards 
4.) Include office, clubhouse, pool, recreation areas 
5.) Three story, mix of one, two, and three bedrooms 

Project Name 
Truby Apartments (CR2006) 

Location 
Truby Drive 

GPIN: 8894453334 

Size 
Approx. 52 acres 

Proposed Density 
10 DU/acre 

Current Zoning 
Light Industrial (I-1) 

Proposed Zoning 
Conditional Mixed-Use 

Residential (CMXR) 

Surrounding Zoning 
CMXR, I-2, I-1, Haw River’s 

Jurisdiction 

Surrounding Land Uses 
Truck Stop, Haw River, vacant 

land. 

Staff Recommendation 
Denial, pending clarification 

Page 41 of 138

mailto:trav93@icloud.com


The TRC is currently reviewing the site plan for comments, which will be completed prior to the Planning 
Board meeting. However, the TRC noted that existing downstream sewer capacity is insufficient for the 
development at the Haw River Pump Station. Additionally, there are capacity concerns from NCDOT and 
the TRC for traffic considerations due to congestion on Jimmie Kerr Road. The TRC recommends denying 
this item until such time as these issues have been fully evaluated by the City and addressed by the 
developer.  

Conformity to the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan (GCP) and Other Adopted Plans 
Development Type: Interchange Regional Node 

Applicable Policies and Recommendations 

Strategy 2.3.1 Facilitate Focused Development Incentivize 
pedestrian-oriented nodal development consistent with this plan 
by incentivizing smart growth development. The City could 
choose to utilize some of the following methods; Expedited 
permit review, deferred tax payments, covering some building 
expenses, Low-interest loans, providing infrastructure, flexible 
and innovative regulations, Small area plans. Additional density in 
the vicinity of the interchanges may result in more focused 
development patterns with less sprawl. However, traffic patterns 
in this location are already troublesome and the construction of 
such a large apartment complex here may result in additional 
congestion concerns. 

Strategy 4.3.1 Land Use Patterns Promote development of 
efficient land use patterns to allow continued quality and 
efficiency of water systems. Discourage the extension of water 
service into areas that are not most suitable for development. 
Water and sewer services already exist in this area. Are no 
extensions of the existing public sewer main, however this would 
be installed by the developer and be a small fraction of the 
maintenance costs for a single-family residential development of 
comparable size. There is limited pump station capacity 
downstream from this site, and the developer may enter into an 
agreement to participate in the upfit of that pump station. 

Policy 5.1.1: Housing variety Encourage a mix of housing types 
within Graham to increase choice. These can include single family dwelling units, multifamily dwelling 
units, small units, pre-fabricated homes, co-housing, and clustered housing. This multifamily 
development will provide additional housing choice for those residing or wishing to reside in Graham.  

Staff Recommendation 
Based on The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and the City of Graham Development Ordinance, and 
the developments compliance with the Graham Development Ordinance, staff recommends Denial of 
the Conditional Rezoning. However, if the Council issues approval, it should be with the following 
conditions(s):  

• All recommended, and required, improvements of a Traffic Impact Analysis be constructed by 
the developer. 

Description of Development Type 
Interchange Regional Node 

 
Like the downtown regional node, 
interchange nodes serve a market 
within and beyond the extent of 

Graham’s planning area. 

Appropriate Form 

0.3 to 0.5 FAR 

Desired Pattern 
Industrial districts should have 
limited setbacks between the 
front of the property line and 

adjacent industrial uses in order to 
use land and infrastructure 

efficiently. These uses should be 
heavily buffered from residential 
neighborhoods, parks and open 
space, and streams. Such areas 

should follow orderly 
development patterns and seek to 

maintain minimal adverse 
environmental impacts. 

Page 42 of 138



• The developer will upfit the Haw River Pump Station to City specifications to handle the 
additional flow, with the ability of City Staff to upfit the proposed sizing at material cost. 

 
The following supports this recommendation: 
While proposed project is in conformity with infill development (Policy 2.2.1) and housing variety (Policy 
5.1.1) of the Graham Comprehensive Plan 2035, the capacity issues for traffic congestion and sanitary 
sewer must be solved before approval can be issued for this project. 

Page 43 of 138



Page 44 of 138



Page 45 of 138



Page 46 of 138



Page 47 of 138



Page 48 of 138



Page 49 of 138



City Council 
Decision & Statement of Consistency 

Per NCGS 160A-383, zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with an 
adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan that is 
applicable. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, the City Council 
shall also approve a statement describing whether its action is consistent with the 
“The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” and briefly explaining why the City Council 
considers the action taken to be reasonable and in the public interest. The Planning 
Board shall provide a written recommendation to the City Council, but a comment 
by the Planning Board that a proposed amendment is inconsistent with the “The 
Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” shall not preclude consideration or approval of 
the proposed amendment by the City Council. If the City Council approves, this 
rezoning shall be effective upon written consent to the conditions herein described. 

Choose one… 

 I move that the application be APPROVED. 

 I move that the application be APPROVED with the following conditions. 
• The developer will upfit the Haw River Pump Station to City specifications to handle the 

additional flow, with the ability of City Staff to upfit the proposed sizing at material cost. 
• [insert additional conditions] 

 I move that the application be DENIED. 

Choose one… 

 The application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

 The application is not fully consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

State reasons… 

This action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: 

 

 

These conditions voluntarily consented to by the petitioner, this the 8th day of June, 2021. 

  
G. Travers Webb, agent for Second Partners, LLC 

This report reflects the decision of the City Council, this the 8th day of June, 2021. 

Attest: 

  
Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

  
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Truby Apartments 
(CR2006) 

Type of Request 
Conditional Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on January 19, 2021 

City Council on February 9, 2021, 
March 9, 2021, April 13, 2021, May 

11, 2021, June 8, 2021 

Page 50 of 138



STAFF REPORT 
Prepared by Nathan Page, Planning Director 

Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family (RZ2104) 

Type of Request: Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on April 20, 2021 
City Council on May 11, 2021 & June 8, 2021 

Contact Information 
G. Travers Webb, III
PO Box 1429, Graham NC 27253
trav93@icloud.com, 336-414-7777

Summary 
This is a request to rezone the property from I-1 to R-MF 
(residential multi-family). The property currently is vacant, and is 
surrounded by general business and industrial districts, including 
a hotel, truck stop, and packaging facility, the latter two of which 
signal frequent semi-truck traffic along this portion of Jimmie Kerr 
Road. 

While this meets many of the standards of the Graham 2035 
Comprehensive Plan, the potential magnitude of the density of 
development, unknown site layout, the limited sewer capacity, 
and the potential traffic issues suggest that this development may 
be better served by one comprehensive Conditional Zoning. 

Location 
Jimmie Kerr Road 

GPIN: 8894469497, 8894469816 

Current Zoning 
 Light Industrial (I-1) 

Proposed Zoning 
Residential Multi-Family (R-MF) 

Overlay District 
none 

Surrounding Zoning 
I-1, I-2, B-2

 Surrounding Land Uses 
Light Industrial, Heavy Industrial, 

General Business, Vacant 

Size 
Approximately 37 acres 

Public Water & Sewer 
Limited Sewer Capacity 

Floodplain 
No 

Staff Recommendation 
Denial 

Page 51 of 138

mailto:trav93@icloud.com


 

Conformity to the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan (GCP) and Other Adopted Plans 
Applicable Policies and Recommendations 

• Strategy 2.3.1 Facilitate Focused Development Incentivize 
pedestrian-oriented nodal development consistent with this 
plan by incentivizing smart growth development. The City 
could choose to utilize some of the following methods; 
Expedited permit review, deferred tax payments, covering 
some building expenses, Low-interest loans, providing 
infrastructure, flexible and innovative regulations, Small area 
plans. Additional density in the vicinity of the interchanges 
may result in more focused development patterns with less 
sprawl. However, traffic patterns in this location are already 
troublesome and the construction of a large housing complex 
here may result in additional congestion concerns. 

• 4.3.1 Land Use Patterns. Promote development of efficient 
land use patterns to allow continued quality and efficiency of 
water systems. Discourage the extension of water service into 
areas that are not most suitable for development.  The site 
would connect to existing city infrastructure, however, we 
have limited sewer capacity at this location. 

• Policy 5.1.1: Housing variety Encourage a mix of housing 
types within Graham to increase choice. These can include 
single family dwelling units, multifamily dwelling units, small 
units, pre-fabricated homes, co-housing, and clustered 
housing. This multifamily development will provide additional 
housing choice for those residing or wishing to reside in 
Graham. 

• 2.2.1 Job Development. Provide support and assistance to 
the business recruitment efforts of the Alamance County 
Chamber of Commerce, seeking to attract a range of 
employment opportunities. The Chamber is actively attempting to recruit businesses like those that 
would choose to occupy this parcel. 

 

Staff Recommendation 
Based on the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan and the City of Graham Development Ordinance, staff 
recommends Denial of the rezoning. The following supports this recommendation: 

• Rezoning the property would be in consistence with the Mixed Use Commercial District, however 
the lack of current municipal resources, and site design considerations support a comprehensive 
Conditional Zoning for this site, in accordance with Strategies 2.3.1 and 4.3.1.  

 
 

Description of Development Type 
Residential District (Multi-Family) 

 
This district is intended for multi-

family residences to be the 
principal land use and to create 

relatively high-density 
neighborhoods. 

Appropriate Form 

For single family residential, 
townhouses, duplexes, accessory 

dwelling units, and small scale 
multi-family dwelling of twelve 

units or less. 

Buildings should be located near 
the front of the property line, 

oriented towards the street, and 
include front porches and other 

private outdoor spaces. 

Recess garages behind the front 
of buildings to avoid streetscapes 

dominated by garage doors. 

Desired Pattern 

Density of 3 to 6 DU/acre 

 

Page 52 of 138



Page 53 of 138



Page 54 of 138



City Council 
Decision & Statement of Consistency 

Per NCGS 160A-383, zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with 
an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan 
that is applicable. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, 
the City Council shall also approve a statement describing whether its 
action is consistent with the “The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” and 
briefly explaining why the City Council considers the action taken to be 
reasonable and in the public interest. The Planning Board shall provide a 
written recommendation to the City Council, but a comment by the 
Planning Board that a proposed amendment is inconsistent with the “The 
Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” shall not preclude consideration or 
approval of the proposed amendment by the City Council. 

Choose one… 

 I move that the application be APPROVED. 

 I move that the application be DENIED. 

Choose one… 

 The application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

 The application is not fully consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

State reasons… 

This action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: 

 

 

This report reflects the decision of the City Council, this the 8th day of June, 2021. 

Attest: 

  
Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

  
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family (RZ2104) 

Type of Request 
Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on April 20, 2021 

City Council on May 11, 2021, June 8, 
2021 

Page 55 of 138



 STAFF REPORT

SUBJECT: CLOSURE OF UNOPENED PORTION OF AN UNCONSTRUCTED ALLEYWAY OFF 
CLIMAX STREET 

PREPARED BY: NATHAN PAGE, PLANNING DIRECTOR 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Approve Resolution Authorizing the process to close an unconstructed portion of an unconstructed alleyway off Climax 
Street. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

Charles Limuel Pierce has requested the removal of a proposed alleyway adjacent to his lot. This portion of Right of Way 
(ROW) exists only on a Plat and has not been constructed, nor does it provide service to, or access land for anyone other 
than Mr. Pierce. Additionally, there have been no utilities located in area by the City of Graham, nor anyone who came out 
as a result of an 811 call by the applicant to identify any infrastructure in the proposed ROW. 

The proposed ROW was offered to the City of Graham on or before Plat Book 5, Page 82 at the Alamance County Register 
of Deeds. Typically, with a ROW closure, half of the property reverts to the property owner of record on each side. 

A public hearing will be held prior to the vote regarding closure of this alleyway. 

FISCAL IMPACT :  

This section of roadway is not currently counted for the purposes of the Powell Bill, and therefore the City receives no funds 
from the state for it. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  

I move we approve the Resolution Ordering the Closing of an unconstructed alleyway off Climax Street. 

Page 56 of 138



A RESOLUTION ORDERING THE CLOSING OF AN UNCONSTRUCTED ALLEYWAY OFF 
CLIMAX STREET 

 

WHEREAS, on the 11th day of May, 2021, the City Council of the City of Graham directed the City Clerk to advertise this 
Resolution of Intent to close an alleyway off Climax Street, a public street right-of-way as described in Exhibit A below, in 
the Alamance News once each week for four successive weeks, such resolution advising the public that a meeting would be 
conducted in the Council Chambers of the Graham City Hall on 8th day of June 2021; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council on the 11th day of May, 2021, ordered the City Clerk to notify all persons owning property 
abutting the portion of an unopened alleyway off Climax Street by registered or certified mail, enclosing with such 
notification a copy of the Resolution of Intent; and 

WHEREAS, the City Clerk has advised the Graham City Council that adequate notices were posted on the applicable street 
as required by G.S. 160A-299; and full and complete opportunity for all interested persons to appear and register any 
objections that they might have with respect to the closing of said alleyway in the public hearing held on June 8, 2021; and 

WHEREAS, it now appears to the satisfaction of the Graham City Council that the closing of a portion of said alleyway is not 
contrary to the public interest, and that no individual owning property, either abutting the alleyway or in the vicinity of the 
alleyway, will as a result of the closing be thereby deprived of a reasonable means of ingress and egress to his property; 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Graham that a portion of an unconstructed alleyway 
off Climax Street, as described in Exhibit A below, is hereby ordered closed, subject to any reservation of right set forth in 
Exhibit A below and in accordance with G.S. 160-299(c), all right, title, and interest that may be vested in the public to said 
street are hereby released and quitclaimed to the abutting property owners in accordance with the provisions of G.S. 160A-
299. 

In accordance with G.S. 160A-299(f) the City hereby reserves all of its right, title, and interest in any utility improvement 
within the closed alleyway with such reservation extends to utility improvements or easements owned by private utilities 
which at the time of the street closing have a utility agreement or franchise with the City.   The City further declares a utility 
easement being described as: 

Situated in the City of Graham, Graham Township, Alamance County, North Carolina. 

BEGINNING AT AN EXISTING IRON PIPE, BEING THE SOUTHWESTERN CORNER OF 30’ ALLEY, THENCE 
N 04º46’14”E, A DISTANCE OF 74.82’ TO A NEW IRON PIPE, THENCE S 85º13’46”E, A DISTANCE OF 
14.50’ TO A MATHEMATICAL POINT IN CENTER OF SAID ALLEYWAY, THENCE ALONG THE CENTER OF 
ALLEY, S 04º18’27” E, A DISTANCE OF 61.54’ TO A MATHEMATICAL POINT, THENCE N 86º23’23”W, A 
DISTANCE OF 15.00’ TO AN EXISTING IRON PIPE, BEING THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING AND 
CONTAINING 0.02 ACRES AS SHOWN AS LOT “B” ON SURVEY COMPLETED BY CAROLINA 
CORNERSTONE SURVEYING, DATED 02/22/21, JOB # 200928 CLOSURE. 

In accordance with G.S. 160A-299(b) any person aggrieved by the closing of this street may appeal the Order to the General 
Court of Justice within thirty days of its adoption. 

The Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized to execute quitclaim deeds or other necessary documents in order to 
evidence vesting of all right, title and interest in those persons owning lots or parcels of land adjacent to the street or alley, 
such title, for the width of the abutting land owned by them, to extend to the centerline of the herein closed Drive in 
accordance with the provision of G.S. 160A-299(c). 

Page 57 of 138



The City Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to file in the Office of the Register of Deeds of Alamance County a certified 
copy of this Alleyway Closing Order. 

Upon motion duly made by Council Member ______________ and duly seconded by _______________, the above 
resolution was duly adopted by the City Council at a meeting held on the 8th day of June 2021, in the City Hall. 

Upon call for a vote, the following Council Members voted in the affirmative: 

 

____________________________________   ____________________________________ 

 

____________________________________   ____________________________________ 

 

____________________________________ 

  

This the 8th day of June, 2021 at 6:00 p.m. 

        ________________________________ 

         Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

Attest: 

___________________________ 

Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 

 

 

NORTH CAROLINA 

ALAMANCE COUNTY 

 I hereby certify that the foregoing is a true and accurate copy of a resolution duly adopted by the City Council of 
the City of Graham, North Carolina, at a meeting held on June 8, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. at the City Hall in the City of Graham. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and have caused the official corporate seal of said City to be 
affixed, this the _____ day of ______, 2021. 

 

                   _______________________________ 

                       City Clerk 

 

Page 58 of 138



 

NORTH CAROLINA 

ALAMANCE COUNTY 

 

 

 I, _______________________________, a Notary Public, do hereby certify that 
____________________________, City Clerk, personally appeared before me this day and acknowledged the due 
execution of the foregoing certification, for the purposes therein expressed. 

  

 WITNESS my hand and notarial seal this _______day of _________________, 2021. 

 

        

________________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

 

My Commission Expires:____________________________ 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Description of Portion of Alleyway off Climax Street to be Abandoned 

Situated in the City of Graham, Graham Township, Alamance County, North Carolina. 

BEGINNING AT AN EXISTING IRON PIPE, BEING THE SOUTHWESTERN CORNER OF 30’ ALLEY, THENCE 
N 04º46’14”E, A DISTANCE OF 74.82’ TO A NEW IRON PIPE, THENCE S 85º13’46”E, A DISTANCE OF 
14.50’ TO A MATHEMATICAL POINT IN CENTER OF SAID ALLEYWAY, THENCE ALONG THE CENTER OF 
ALLEY, S 04º18’27” E, A DISTANCE OF 61.54’ TO A MATHEMATICAL POINT, THENCE N 86º23’23”W, A 
DISTANCE OF 15.00’ TO AN EXISTING IRON PIPE, BEING THE POINT AND PLACE OF BEGINNING AND 
CONTAINING 0.02 ACRES AS SHOWN AS LOT “B” ON SURVEY COMPLETED BY CAROLINA 
CORNERSTONE SURVEYING, DATED 02/22/21, JOB # 200928 CLOSURE. 

 

Page 59 of 138



March 10, 2021 

Nathan Page 
Planner, City of Graham 
201 South Main Street 
Graham, NC  27253 

Mr. Nathan, 

On behalf of Charles Limuel Pierce, who owns the single-family home located at 520 Climax Street, I am 
writing to request parcel closure of the 30’alley way accessing parcel 134858 and parcel 134863. The 
attached map indicates the area of closure requested.   

Please feel free to contact me with any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely, 

Trish Dixon 

240-678-9906

Page 60 of 138



Page 61 of 138



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: AMEND TEMPORARY OUTDOOR SALES ORDINANCE 

PREPARED BY: MARY FAUCETTE, DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT COORINDATOR 

REQUESTED ACTION:  

Amend Code of Ordinances to relax regulations for Temporary Outdoor Sales. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

City Council approved a text amendment at their August 2018 meeting, which approved Temporary 
Outdoor Sales for up to three days in any seven-day period on private property.  Presented before City 
Council is a request by Jeff Collie, Co-Owner and Josh Coe, General Manager of Little Brother Brewing.  
They have requested that the City Council re-evaluate this policy, and add provisions for allowing 
temporary outdoor sales in the public right of way. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

N/A 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Approval. Staff recommends approval of the requested amendment. 

SUGGESTED MOTION(S): 

I move to approve the Ordinance Amendment to CHAPTER 8, ARTICLE VIII, SEC. 8-345 OF THE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA. 

Page 62 of 138



AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, AMENDING 
CHAPTER 8, ARTICLE VIII, SEC. 8-345 OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

GRAHAM, NORTH CAROLINA 

 The City Council of the City of Graham, North Carolina, does ORDAIN: 

Sec. 1. That the Code of Ordinances, City of Graham, North Carolina, is hereby amended by 
amending section 8-345 (4), which said section shall read as follows:   

Chapter 8 - BUSINESSES 

ARTICLE VIII. – TEMPORARY OUTDOOR SALES 

SEC. 8-345. - Temporary Outdoor Sales: 

The following restrictions apply to all Temporary Outdoor Sales on private property. These 
restrictions shall not apply to Garage Sales, as that term is used and defined in Article 8-306 et seq., 
Code of Ordinances, City of Graham, which shall hereafter continue to regulate such sales and conduct. 

The following restrictions shall not apply to farmers selling goods grown on their own property, nor to 
approved vendors in association with City approved and permitted events. All other organizations shall 
limit their outdoor sales as follows: 

1. Permit Required: Any vendor seeking to make use of this ordinance must apply to the City’s
Planning Department for a permit and pay the fee for the permit. The issuance of the permit is
contingent upon the continuous operation of the liability insurance and any other regulatory
requirement, such as health department food service permit for mobile food service.

2. Cleanliness and Sanitation: Vendors must post in a conspicuous place, visible to the public from
the service window, all licenses and permits required by any regulator, including but not limited
to the Health Department and Department of Insurance. Vendors are required to keep a 15 foot
buffer free of trash. Vendors may not increase the burden on City Sanitation by using the City
trash receptacles. Vendors must provide a private means for trash disposal.

3. Hours of Operation: Vendors may not begin their operations before 7AM. Vendors must
complete all operations before 11PM.

4. Duration: The property owner shall only allow the use of their property for not more than three
(3) days within a seven (7) day period. A vendor shall be limited to no more than one (1) day
within that seven (7) day period.

5. Permitted zones: The zoning of the property must allow for the intended use of the vendor in
accordance with the City of Graham Development Ordinances. Vendors may conduct sales
within the public right-of-way in locations directed by City Staff only when the City Council has
approved a temporary street closing for City- approved and permitted events such as a street
festival/fair.

6. Location: Vendors shall not be located within 50 feet from structure of a similar establishment.
This restriction shall not apply to the property owner. A downtown business may utilize the
parking spaces in front of their business for the durations as described above.

7. Sound: Generator(s) must not run within 200’ of a dwelling unit after 9 PM, nor before 8AM,
except as part of a City sanctioned event. No vendor supplied music or amplified advertising
shall be permitted at any time.

Page 63 of 138



8. Unattended sales: All vendors must have personnel at the site of temporary sale at all times.
The vendor site shall not be left unattended for more than ten minutes.

9. Signage: Other than any signs painted on the mobile unit (for example on the side of a food
truck), only one A-frame sign, not to exceed 3 square feet per side is permitted.

Sec. 2. That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval and publication, as provided by law 

This the __      __ day of __      _, 2021. 

 _________________________ 
 Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________ 
City Clerk 

Page 64 of 138



From: Nathan Page
To: Darcy Sperry
Cc: astisan booking; Mary Faucette
Subject: FW: Food Trucks
Date: Wednesday, April 28, 2021 8:57:23 AM
Attachments: image1.png

Darcy,
Would you mind reading the attached for Items Not on Tonight’s Agenda at the next City Council Meeting, please?
 
Josh,
This will set the process in motion if the City Council is interested in changing the current regulations.
 
Thank you,
Nathan
 

Page 65 of 138

mailto:npage@cityofgraham.com
mailto:dsperry@cityofgraham.com
mailto:artisanbooking@hotmail.com
mailto:mfaucette@cityofgraham.com



-Josh Coe 

Page 66 of 138



STAFF REPORT 
Prepared by Jane Williams, Planning Intern 

Poplar Business (RZ2105) 

Type of Request: Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on May 18, 2021 
City Council on June 8, 2021 

Contact Information 
Joseph Mena 
5613 Christie Lane, Durham NC 27713 
910-620-4809; firstonerestoration@gmail.com

Summary 

This is a request to rezone the property from Residential (R-7) to 
General Business (B-2). The property is surrounded by single 
family homes as well as various commercial and industrial 
properties. The property owner’s stated reason for this rezoning 
request is to turn the existing single family home into an office. 

Location 
608 Poplar St 

GPIN: 8874861063 

Current Zoning 
Residential (R-7) 

Proposed Zoning 
General Business (B-2) 

Overlay District 
none 

Surrounding Zoning 
B-2, I-1, R-7

Surrounding Land Uses 
Single Family Homes, Commercial 

Buildings 

Size 
0.2 (+/-) acres 

Public Water & Sewer 
Available 

Floodplain 
No 

Staff Recommendation 
Approval 

Page 67 of 138



Conformity to the Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan (GCP) and Other Adopted Plans 
Planning District: Mixed Use Commercial  
 
Applicable Policies; 
• 3.1.2 Safe Access to Businesses and Homes. 

Limit direct highway access or the number of curb cuts to 
commercial activities by directing development to 
proposed regional and village centers and requiring 
internal connectivity between commercial uses, 
uniformity in design standards, and rear alley access 
where feasible. This property is adjacent to several 
commercial properties, and so would present congruity in 
terms of adding commercial development in relevant 
locations. 

Applicable Strategies; 

• 1.1.5 Discourage Strip Development.  Discourage strip 
development along transportation arteries and proposed 
interstate interchanges by directing these commercial 
activities to proposed activity centers. The residential density in the vicinity lends itself to additional 
commercial activities.  

• 2.3.1 Facilitate focused development.  Incentivize pedestrian-oriented nodal development 
consistent with this plan by incentivizing smart growth development. Rezoning this property lot to B-
2 would reinforce the goals of pedestrian-oriented nodal development, mixed-use environments, and 
smart growth development while discouraging commercial strip developments.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Recommendation 
Based on The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan, staff recommends approval of the rezoning. The 
following supports this recommendation: 

• Rezoning the property would be consistent with mixed-use development goals (Strategy 2.3.1) 
and would maintain connectivity to existing commercial properties, thus adding business 
development in a relevant location (Policy 3.1.2). 

Development Type 
Mixed Use Commercial 

Buildings located no further than 15 
feet from the front lot line 

3-5 story building heights 

Sidewalks, small block lengths, on-
street parking, transparent windows 

on >50% of front façade 

A mix of uses is desirable, including 
retail, commercial, office, multifamily 

residential, and institutional uses 

Built to a human scale 
 

Page 68 of 138



 

Application for 
REZONING or  

CONDITIONAL REZONING 

P.O. Drawer 357 
201 South Main Street 

Graham, NC 27253 
(336) 570-6705 

Fax (336) 570-6703 
www.cityofgraham.com 

This application is for both general district rezonings and conditional rezonings. Applications are due on the 25th of each month. 
Applicants are encouraged to consult with the City of Graham Development Ordinances and the City Planner. 

Site 

Street Address:        

Tax Map#:        GPIN:        
Current Zoning District(s): 

 R-7      R-9      R-12      R-15      R-18 
 R-MF      R-G      C-R      C-MXR 
 B-1      B-2      B-3      C-B      C-MXC 
 O-I      C-O-I      I-1      I-2      C-I 

Overlay District, if applicable: 
 Historic      S Main St/Hwy 87      E Harden St/Hwy 54 

Current Use:        

Total Site Acres:        

Property Owner:        

Mailing Address:        

City, State, Zip:        

Applicant 

 Property Owner     Other        
Application for Conditional Rezoning may only be initiated by the 
owner of a legal interest in all affected property, any person having 
an interest in the property by reason of written contract with owner, 
or an agent authorized in writing to act on the owner’s behalf. If the 
applicant for Conditional Rezoning is other than the Property Owner, 
documentation in compliance with the preceding statement must be 
provided in order for this application to be complete. 

Name:        

Mailing Address:        

City, State, Zip:        

Phone #        

Email:        

I have completed this application truthfully and to the best of 
my ability. 

 
Signature of Applicant Date 

Proposed Rezoning or Conditional Rezoning 

Proposed Zoning District(s): 
 R-7      R-9      R-12      R-15      R-18 
 R-MF      R-G      C-R      C-MXR 
 B-1      B-2      B-3      C-B      C-MXC 
 O-I      C-O-I      I-1      I-2      C-I 

Describe the purpose of this rezoning request. For Conditional 
Rezonings, also specify the actual use(s) intended for the 
property (from Sec. 10.135 Table of Permitted Uses) along 
with other descriptive or pertinent information, such as 
number of dwelling units, type of multifamily development, 
square footage and number of buildings: 

      

For Conditional Rezonings, this application must be 
accompanied by a Preliminary Site Plan and supporting 
information specifying the actual use(s) and any rules, 
regulations or conditions that, in addition to predetermined 
ordinance requirements, will govern the development and 
use of the property. 

 Site Plan Review Application must be attached to this 
application for Conditional Rezonings 

Office Use Only. DEVID# 
 

Page 69 of 138

http://www.cityofgraham.com
http://www.cityofgraham.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/DevelopmentOrdinances.pdf
http://www.cityofgraham.com/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/DevelopmentOrdinances.pdf


Page 70 of 138



Page 71 of 138



City Council 
Decision & Statement of Consistency 

Per NCGS 160A-383, zoning regulations shall be made in accordance with 
an adopted comprehensive plan and any other officially adopted plan 
that is applicable. When adopting or rejecting any zoning amendment, 
the City Council shall also approve a statement describing whether its 
action is consistent with the “The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” and 
briefly explaining why the City Council considers the action taken to be 
reasonable and in the public interest. The Planning Board shall provide a 
written recommendation to the City Council, but a comment by the 
Planning Board that a proposed amendment is inconsistent with the “The 
Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan” shall not preclude consideration or 
approval of the proposed amendment by the City Council. 

Choose one… 

 I move that the application be APPROVED. 

 I move that the application be DENIED. 

Choose one… 

 The application is consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

 The application is not fully consistent with The Graham 2035 Comprehensive Plan. 

State reasons… 

This action is reasonable and in the public interest for the following reasons: 

 

 

This report reflects the decision of the City Council, this the 8th day of June, 2021. 

Attest: 

  
Gerald R. Peterman, Mayor 

  
Darcy L. Sperry, City Clerk 
 

Poplar Business (RZ2105) 

Type of Request 
Rezoning 

Meeting Dates 
Planning Board on May 18, 2021 

City Council on June 8, 2021 

Page 72 of 138



STAFF REPORT 

SUBJECT: BUDGET ORDINANCE 

PREPARED BY: AARON HOLLAND, INTERIM CITY MANAGER & 

JULIANNE CORDON, FINANCE DIRECTOR 

REQUESTED ACTION: 

Adopt Budget Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 

BACKGROUND/SUMMARY: 

The annual budget ordinance is the official document adopted by the City to levy taxes and appropriate revenues for the 
2021-2022 fiscal year.  The attached budget is balanced and meets all the applicable requirements of the North Carolina Local 
Government Budget and Fiscal Control Act. The budget ordinance accounts for all anticipated revenues and expenditures for 
all operating funds for the upcoming fiscal year, including capital expenditures and other special funds.  The proposed budget 
ordinance does not appropriate funds on a line by line basis (object basis), but rather on a departmental basis.   

The budget ordinance captures all revenues and expenditures outlined in the City Manager’s Recommended Budget.  Most 
notably is the expenditures associated with the construction of the new fire station and the purchase of an automated 
garbage truck. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 

The total of all funds is $24,675,800.  The tax rate remains at $.455 per one hundred dollars ($100.00) of valuation and all 
General Fund fees remain unchanged.  There is a recommended increase in refuse fees from a total of $6.25 per month to 
$8.50 per month. Water and sewer user charges are adjusted to reflect the actual costs as well as upcoming debt service 
requirements.  Water rates are recommended to stay the same as current year rates at $3.50 per thousand gallons, with a 
base rate of $3.30. Sewer rates are recommended to increase from $7.75 per thousand gallons to $8.45, with a base rate of 
$3.30. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval.  

SUGGESTED MOTION(S):  

I move we adopt the Budget Ordinance for Fiscal Year 2021-2022. 

Page 73 of 138

https://www.cityofgraham.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Budget-message-2020-2021.pdf


Budget Ordinance 
FY 2021-2022  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF GRAHAM, 
NORTH CAROLINA: 
 
Section l.  The following amounts are hereby appropriated in the General Fund for the 
operation of City Government; its activities and capital improvements for the Fiscal Year 
beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022, in accordance with the Chart of Accounts 
heretofore established for the City: 
 

 
 

Section 2.  It is estimated that the following revenues will be available in the General Fund 
for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022. 
 

Ad Valorem Taxes $5,915,400 

Investment Earnings $27,000 
Miscellaneous $475,000 
Other Taxes/Licenses $700 
Permits/Fees $294,000 
Restricted Intergovernmental $557,500 
Sales/Services $788,600 
Unrestricted Intergovernmental $5,242,300 
Fund Balance $1,470,000 

Fund Total $14,770,500 

 
 

 

City Council 53,900
Administrat ion 580,100
Downtown Development 127,200
Information Technology 269,700
Finance 342,300
Public Buildings 123,700
Police 4,617,000
Fire 1,770,100
Inspections 581,300
Traffic Engineering 91,000
Garage and Warehouse 110,400
Streets & Highways 1,630,200
Street Lights 110,000
Sanitat ion 1,234,400
Recreation 904,600
Lake 186,600
Athlet ic Facilit ies 400,500
Property Maintenance 817,300
Non-Departmental 820,200

14,770,500       

Page 74 of 138



Section 3.  The following amounts are hereby appropriated in the Water & Sewer Fund for 
its operations, activities and capital improvements for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2021 
and ending June 30, 2022, in accordance with the Chart of Accounts heretofore established 
for the City: 
 

Water and Sewer Billing  $613,100  

Water and Sewer Distribution  $2,050,800  

Maintenance & Lift Station  $292,200  

Water Treatment Plant  $2,032,500  

Wastewater Treatment Plant  $1,622,100  

Non Departmental Admin  $2,383,000  

 FUND TOTAL $8,993,700 

 
Section 4.  It is estimated that the following revenues will be available in the Water & Sewer 
Fund for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022. 
 

Non-Operating $164,500 

Operating $282,600 

Other Financing Sources $1,046,000 

Services $7,500,000 

FUND TOTAL $8,993,700 

 
Section 5.  The following amounts are hereby appropriated in the Garage Fund for 
operations and activities for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022, 
in accordance with the Chart of Accounts heretofore established for the City: 
 

Garage Fund 911,400 

 
Section 6.  It is estimated that the following revenues will be available in the Garage Fund 
for the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2021 and ending June 30, 2022 based on a labor rate of 
$75 per hour. 

 
Ala Co Fuel 185,300 
City Of Graham Parts 246,600 
City Of Graham Labor 209,200 
City Of Graham Fuel 224,300 
Graham Housing Parts 6,400 
Graham Housing Labor 5,600 
Graham Housing Fuel 8,800 
Green Level Parts 3,500 
Green Level Labor 5,100 
Green Level Fuel 12,400 
ABC Parts 0 
ABC Fuel 4,200 
Interest On Investments 0 
Miscellaneous Income 0 

Total $911,400 

Page 75 of 138



Section 7.   The following amounts are hereby anticipated and appropriated for the City’s 
Special Funds:  

Revenues Expenditures 

FEDERAL DRUG MONIES $100 $100 

STATE DRUG MONIES $100 $100 

GRAHAM MEMORIAL PARK $0 $0 

JIM NINOR ROAD PARK $0 $0 

OLD FIELDS OUTFALL $2,955,000 $2,955,000 

WWTP UPGRADE $3,815,000 $3,815,000 

TOTALS: $6,770,200 $6,770,200 

Section 8.  There is hereby levied a tax at the rate of $.455 per one hundred dollar ($100.00) 
of valuation of property as listed for taxes as of January 1, 2021 for the purpose of raising the 
Revenue listed as “Ad Valorem Taxes” in Section 2.  Such rates are based on an estimated 
total valuation of property for the purposes of taxation of $1,192,000,000 (100% valuation) 
with an anticipated collection rate of 97%. 

Section 9.  The City of Graham Fee Schedule shall be amended as follows and effective July 
1, 2021: 

Development Fees 
Planned Unit Development $200 

Rezoning Request $200 

Special Use Permit $200 

Variance Request $200 

TRC Review (excluding subdivision) $250, $100 for any review 
beyond 2nd  

Site Development/ Right of Way Improvement Re-Inspection $100, $200-2nd, $300-3rd, etc. 

Notes: A re-inspection fee shall be assessed when the project is not ready for inspection, recurring 
deficiencies exist, or inspection requests are not canceled on time. 

Building Permit 
Building Plan Review, Commercial $200 buildings up to 10,000 sf 

$200 + 0.01 per sf for buildings>10,000 sf 

Miscellaneous Building 
Fire Re-Inspection Fee (routine inspections) $50-3rd, $100-4th, $150-5th, etc. 

Notes: A re-inspection fee shall be assessed when the project is not ready for inspection, recurring 
deficiencies exist, or inspection requests are not canceled on time. 

Page 76 of 138



Miscellaneous Fees 
Cement Catch Basin Cover $400 

Refuse Fees 
*Recycling $4 per unit, per month 

*Garbage Land Fill Tipping Fee $4.50 per unit, per month 

New Home Garbage & Recycling Container $55 per container 

***Bulk Waste (in excess of 2 clam shell bites) $18 per clam shell bite in excess of 2 

***Tree Trimmings (in excess of 2 clam shell 
bites)bites) 

$12 per clam shell bite in excess of 2 

* All water customers inside the City Limits without containerized disposal systems (dumpsters) per customer or
dwelling unit

**Extra roll out container for residents only 

*** One (1) clam shell bite is approximately 1.5 cubic yards 

Backflow Annual Testing (For Irrigation Accounts) $10.42 per month 

Sewer Rates 
Sewer Base Rate $3.30 
Sewer Rates per 1,000 gallons: 

0-1000 $4.36 

1,001-10,000 $8.45 

10,001-100,000 $8.50 

100,001-1,000,000 $8.56 

1,000,001-2,000,000 $8.61 

2,000,000+ $8.67 

 
 

Recreation Fees 
Athletics/Camps 

Resident General Public Commercial 
Athletics1 $25 $40 N/A 
1A multiple child discount will be available to Graham residents for children in the same household; the first child 
will be charged the full fee, the second child will be charged 75% of full fee and three or more children will each be 
charged 50% of full fee 

Page 77 of 138



Athletic Camps 
Including Soccer, Basketball, Baseball, 
Softball, Flag Football, Lacrosse 

Fees for each camp will be set by the GRPD 
Director and the Athletic Supervisor, based 
on facility, staffing, and equipment needs 

N/A 
Summer Day Camp 

10 Weeks $575/1st child $745/1st child 
6 weeks $350/1st child $450/1st child 
Weekly2 $70/child $86/child 
Daily2 $21/child $26/child 

Multiple Child Discount3 $30/child $30/child 
2Limited based on availability 
3Discounts will not be given on weekly or daily rates 

Special Events and Programs 
The GRPD Director may set fees for special events and programs based on facility, staffing, and 
equipment needs 

Graham Recreation Center 
Resident General Public Commercial 

Open Gym Basketball 

N/A 

Ages 16-54 $1/visit $1/visit 
Ages 13 & U; 55+ FREE FREE 

Weight Room 
Ages 16-54 $1/visit $1/visit 
Ages 16-54 $40/six-month pass $55/six-month pass 
Ages 16-54 $25/three-month pass $40/three-month pass 
Ages 55+ FREE FREE 

Graham-Mebane Lake 
Fees for All Customers Commercial 

Boat Launching2 $9/vessel 

N/A 

Boat Launching-Seniors2,4 $4/vessel 
Non-motorized Vessel Launching3 $6/vessel or $45/year 
Non-motorized Vessel Launching-Seniors3,4 $3/vessel or $30/year 
Bank Fishing $3/person or $35/year 
Bank Fishing-Seniors4 & Persons w/100% Disability $1/person or $15/year 
Annual User Fee Permit5 $70/year 
Annual User Fee Permit-Seniors4,5 $50/year 
Annual User Fee Permit-Group $125/year 
Boat Launching-Maintenance & Demonstrations6 $4/vessel $4/vessel or $300/annual 
Jon Boats $10/4 hrs 

$16/8hrs 

N/A 

Canoe Rental $15/4hrs 
$20/8hrs 

Solo Kayak Rental $12/4 hrs 
$18/8 hrs 

Tandem Kayak Rental $18/4 hrs 
$24/8 hrs 

Event Rental $175/5 hrs $275/5 hrs 
2 All motorized boats including jet skis 

3 All non-motorized vessels including kayaks, canoes & paddleboards 

4 Senior fee begins at age 65 
5 Includes boat launching and daily fees for a single individual and covers a maximum of two boats 

Page 78 of 138



6 No Recreational activities (fishing, skiing etc.) allowed; for boat and/or trailer maintenance/repair checks, swapping of boats and trailers, and 
all demonstrations for potential sales; fee is for a one-hour limit, activity over one hour will be charged the full boat launch fee; no charge for 
the general public if the boat remains on trailer  

Facility Rental Fees 
Bill Cooke Park 

Field/Room/Equipment Resident/Non-Profit1* General Public Commercial* 

Passive Areas 
Open Space, Perimeter Trail, Etc. $150 (5 hrs max) $200 (5 hrs max) $275 (5 hrs max) 

Single Field 
Field #1, Field #2 or Field #3 

$150/day (10 hrs) 
$20/hr 

$200/day (10 hrs) 
$25/hr 

$275/day (10 hrs) 
$35/hr 

Field Prep $20 ea. $20 ea. $20/ea. 
Field Lining $10 ea. $10 ea. $10 ea. 
Lights (single field) $25/hr $25/hr $25/hr 
Scoreboard (single field) $20/hr $20/hr $20/hr 
Staff Supervision2 $20/hr $20/hr $20/hr 
1Must be a 501(c)(3), tax exempt or charitable organization in good standing and must be approved by the City of Graham  
2Supervision Fee may be waived for City of Graham employees upon approval of the GRPD Director or Athletic Supervisor 

Graham Recreation Center 
Resident/Non-Profit1* General Public Commercial* 

Full Center 
Gym #1, Gym #2, Room #1 & 
Kitchen 

$60/hr + staff fee $120/hr + staff fee $240/hr + staff fee 

Room #1 
Multi-purpose Room, Includes Kitchen $20/hr + staff fee $40/hr + staff fee $80/hr + staff fee 

Gym #1-Full Gym, Includes Kitchen $30/hr + staff fee $60/hr + staff fee $120/hr + staff fee 
Gym #2-Half Gym, Includes Kitchen $25/hr + staff fee $50/hr + staff fee $100/hr + staff fee 
Tables3 (For Use Outside Center) $3/table per day $3/table per day $3/table per day 
Chairs (For Use Outside Center) $0.25/chair per day $0.25/chair per day $0.25/chair per day 
3Each rental will be charged a $50 refundable security deposit 

Graham Civic Center 
Resident/Non-Profit1* General Public Commercial* 

Full Center, Includes Kitchen 
$20/hr + staff fee 

$75/5 hrs + staff fee 
$132/10 hrs + staff fee 

$40/hr + staff fee 
$150/5 hrs + staff fee 
$265/10 hrs + staff fee 

$80/hr + staff fee 
$300/5 hrs + staff fee 

$530/10 hrs + staff fee 
Sand Volleyball Court $15/hr $20/hr $30/hr 

Gym #1-Full Gym, Includes Kitchen $30/hr + staff fee $60/hr + staff fee $120/hr + staff fee 

Gym #2-Half Gym, Includes Kitchen $25/hr + staff fee $50/hr + staff fee $100/hr + staff fee 

Tables3 (For Use Outside Center) $3/table per day $3/table per day $3/table per day 
Chairs (For Use Outside Center) $0.25/chair per day $0.25/chair per day $0.25/chair per day 
3Each rental will be charged a $50 refundable security deposit 
4Supervisory fees must be paid for all centers. An additional hour will be added to all rentals for facility preparations. Supervisory fees may be waived 
for the Graham Recreation Center during regular business hours and for all centers for City of Graham employees upon approval of the GRPD 
Director or Center Supervisor 
5Refundable and included in all rentals 

Page 79 of 138



*All rentals to Non-Profit and Commercial entities must be approved by the GRPD Director

South Graham Park 
Resident/Non-Profit1* General Public Commercial* 

Sand Volleyball Court $15/hr $20/hr $30/hr 
3Each rental will be charged a $50 refundable security deposit 
*All rentals to Non-Profit and Commercial entities must be approved by the GRPD Director

Maple St. Center 
Resident/Non-Profit1* General Public Commercial* 

Full Center, Does Not Include Kitchen $15/hr + staff fee $30/hr + staff fee $60/hr + staff fee 

Supervisory Staff Fee4 $20/hr $20/hr $20/hr 

Cleaning Deposit5 $50 $50 $50 
1Must be a 501(c)(3), tax exempt or charitable organization in good standing and must be approved by the City of Graham 
3Each rental will be charged a $50 refundable security deposit 
4Supervisory fees must be paid for all centers. An additional hour will be added to all rentals for facility preparations. Supervisory fees may be waived 
for the Graham Recreation Center during regular business hours and for all centers for City of Graham employees upon approval of the GRPD 
Director or Center Supervisor 
5Refundable and included in all rentals 
*All rentals to Non-Profit and Commercial entities must be approved by the GRPD Director

Shelters 
Resident General Public School Systems 

Bill Cooke Park, Shelter #1 & Shelter #2 
S. Graham Park, Shelter A & Shelter B
Graham Regional Park 
Graham-Mebane Lake 

$25/reservation 
period 

$50/reservation 
period 

Alamance Co. 
Schools 
-FREE

Non-
Alamance 

Co. Schools 
-$20 

Cemetery Fees 
Grave Prices 

Resident Non-resident 
Conventional Grave – 4’x8’ $800/grave $2,500/grave 
Cremation Grave – 4’x4’ $400/grave $1,250/grave 
Infant Grave – 4’x4’ $400/grave $1,000/grave 
Cremation Grave – 4’x8’ 
(When Available) $600/grave $2,000/grave 

2nd Right to Interment 
(When Available) $200/grave $500/grave 

Deed Transfers 
Transfer from Resident to Resident $5.00 administrative fee 
Transfer from Resident to Non-resident $1,700 per grave + administration fee 

Interment Costs 
Monday – Friday (prior to 2:00pm)**2 $500 
Monday – Friday (2:00pm and after)**2 $650 
Saturdays1,2 $1,000 

Page 80 of 138



Sundays2 & Holidays2,3 $1,250 

Cremation, Infant and 2nd Right Interment Costs 
Monday – Friday (prior to 2:00pm)**2 $250 
Monday – Friday (2:00pm and after)**2 $400 
Saturdays1,2 $750 
Sundays2 & Holidays2,3 $1,000 

Markers 
Permit Fee – Single or Double* $100 
Installation – Single Memorial $150 
Installation – Double Memorial $175 
Installation Fee is $50 for reputable companies approved by the City of Graham 
*Installation Fee is waived for Veterans with an approved government supplied marker.
** Based upon arrival time at the cemetery
1Saturday rate begins at 4:00pm on Friday and ends at 7:00am on Sunday.
2$50.00 per half hour surcharge after one hour of arrival time or any time after 3:30pm.
3The holiday rate applies to any holiday observed by the City.

Section 10.  The City of Graham Capital Improvement Plan 2020-2025 is hereby approved 
and amended per the appropriations for improvements contained herein.  For the purpose 
of tracking capital items, there shall be a threshold of $5,000. 

Section 11.  Copies of this Ordinance shall be furnished to the City Manager and the Finance 
Officer to be kept on file by them for their direction in the disbursement of City Funds. 

Adopted this 8th day of June 2021. 

Mayor Jerry Peterman 

Attest: 

Page 81 of 138



Page 82 of 138



Page 83 of 138



Page 84 of 138



Page 85 of 138



Page 86 of 138



Page 87 of 138



Page 88 of 138



Page 89 of 138



Page 90 of 138



Page 91 of 138



Page 92 of 138



Page 93 of 138



Page 94 of 138



Page 95 of 138



Page 96 of 138



Page 97 of 138



Page 98 of 138



Page 99 of 138



Page 100 of 138



Page 101 of 138



Page 102 of 138



Page 103 of 138



Page 104 of 138



Page 105 of 138



Page 106 of 138



Page 107 of 138



Page 108 of 138



Page 109 of 138



Page 110 of 138



Page 111 of 138



Page 112 of 138



Page 113 of 138



Page 114 of 138



Page 115 of 138



Page 116 of 138



Page 117 of 138



Page 118 of 138



Page 119 of 138



Page 120 of 138



Page 121 of 138



Page 122 of 138



Page 123 of 138



CITY Of 

VOLUNTEER BOARD 
& COMMISSION APPLICATION 

The following application is used by the Graham City Council to identify individuals 
interested in serving on a City board or commission. To ensure that your application 
will receive full consideration, please answer all questions completely. For more information 
and details about each board, please visit cityofgraham.comlboards-commissions 

Name: Lawrence Scott Pickard 

Home Address: 101 Southwood Court 

Email Address: pickard8507@gmail.com

Mailing Address: 101Southwood Court 

City, State, Zip: _G _ra_ h_a_m"-, _N_2_72_5_3 _____ _ City, State, Zip:_G_ra_h_a _m"", _NC_2 _72_5_3 _____ _

Home Phone: _3_3 6 _-6_7_5_-0_2_6 7 ________ _ Alternate Phone: 
------------

Please list the board(s) and/or commissions on which you are currently serving: 

none 

Please select up to, two (2) boards and/or commissions from the list below for 
which you would like to be considered and indicate your preference for each 
selection (1 = first choice and 2 = second choice): 

D Alcohol Beverage Control Board

D Appearance Commission

D Canine Review Board

D Graham Housing Authority

EJ Historical Museum Advisory Board

D Historic Resources Commission

D Planning Board/Board of Adjustment

D Recreation Commission

D TreeBoard

Note: If you wish to change your selections for desired board(s) and/or commission(s) you 
will need to file a new application with the City Clerk. Only the most recent application on file 
will be presented to City Council. If not selected, applicants must reapply after the July City 
Council meeting to be considered for future appointments. 

RELEVANT EXPERIENCE 

Current employer /retired: Retired from City of Graham

Employer address: 201 S Main Street City, State, Zip:..;G;.;.ra;;..h;.;.a ;.;.m"", ;.;.NC
.;..;;;;2 7;.;.2.;.;5.;;.3 ______ _ 

Job title and description of responsibilities: 
Pretrea tment! Coordinator- regulkate industries and restaurants in th e City of Grah am, 

x

Page 124 of 138



Page 125 of 138



Page 126 of 138



Page 127 of 138



Page 128 of 138



Page 129 of 138



Page 130 of 138



Page 131 of 138



Page 132 of 138



Page 133 of 138



Page 134 of 138



Page 135 of 138



City of Graham, NC 

CITY MANAGER 

Recruitment Timeline ‐ 2021 

Activity  Target Date 
Identifying the hiring need, such as what you are looking for in a City 
Manager. Attached draft for you to review of a job advertisement based 
on job description. Recruitment plan timeline recommendation to 
review.  6/8/2021 

City Council approves job advertisement: ads posted; outreach begins 
6/8/2021 to 
7/11/2021 

Applicant screening – 1st round to determine candidates that meet 
the minimum qualifications for the job.  7/12/2021 
Applicant phone screening by HR. Gathering more information about 
the candidates, discussing our process, and their willingness to 
participate.  7/14/2021 
Candidate writing assignment – The City will be looking for the following 
competencies:  critical thinking, problem solving, written 
communication, etc. 

7/19/2021 to 
7/28/2021 

Candidate Profiles for Council to review and select for Assessment Center  7/29/2021 
Invitations to be sent out to candidates for Assessment Center  8/2/2021 
Assessment Center ‐ panel interviews with City Council, panel 
interviews with department heads, press conference with City 
Managers, tour of our City with Asst. City Manager.  8/9/2021 

Top three candidates move to City Council for one on one interview.  8/12/2021 
City Council extends employment offer to finalist pending successful 
results of reference checks, background checks, academic verification 
and drug screening.  8/23/2021 
Formal job offer  8/30/2021 

Page 136 of 138



 

 

City Manager 

 
The City of Graham seeks well qualified candidates for City Manager.  The City desires a progressive 
community leader with high ethical standards, ability to build/maintain effective working relationships with 
citizens, staff, and elected officials. 
 
About the Community:  
 
Graham is a city of approx. 17,000 residents situated between the Triad and Triangle regions of central 
North Carolina consisting of ten square miles.  The City Graham is a small community with rich history, a 
cultural center, and seat of Alamance County, North Carolina. The City is centered around the historic 
Courthouse square and hosts a high quality of life for residents, a diverse job market for workers and 
employers, quality educational opportunities for students, and exciting historic and cultural destinations 
for tourists and visitors.  The community is conveniently located within a few hours of the coast and the 
beautiful Blue Ridge Mountains. 
 
 
About the Organization: The City is governed by a Council/Manager form of government. The City 
Manager reports to the Council and leads eight departments employing 128 FTE employees, 76 part-time, 
total budget of $28M.   
 
 
The City Manager performs highly responsible administrative, executive, and supervisory functions in directing 
and coordinating all municipal activities for the City as specified in the North Carolina General Statues, the City of 
Graham Charter, and Code of Ordinances; serves as chief administrative/executive officer; performs related work 
as required.  Positions in this classification exercise significant authority, discretion, judgment and 
independence in conducting work assignments and are exempt from the overtime pay requirements of 
the Fair Labor Standards Act. 
 
 
Responsibilities: 
 
The City Manager, directs, supervises, and coordinates the operations and functions of all departments to 
ensure the smooth, effective municipal government operation. Consults with department heads, governing 
body members, legal staff, and state officials as required. Makes on-site visits to observe departmental 
activities to assess operational efficiency. Acts as an agent of the City Council in developing, interpreting, and 
implementing public policy. Represents the City in interaction with the citizens, other agencies, media, 
private business and other governmental units at various local, state and federal levels. Develops and 
recommends policy alternatives to the City Council. Reviews administrative practices and coordinates the 
need for modifications. Develops and administers the annual budget to include reviewing departmental 

Page 137 of 138



funds requests, performing budget analyses, developing and presenting budgetary recommendations, and 
ensuring the satisfying of all legal requirements. Serves as the final authority for personnel actions. 
Reviews minutes. Ensures maintenance of official public records; complies with state requirements.  
Coordinates activities with other public agencies and governments. Performs general administrative 
duties as required. 
Attends various meetings to keep abreast of the developments in local government administration. 
Performs other duties as may be prescribed by the City Council. This position reports to and serves at 
the pleasure of the City Council. 

Qualifications: 
 
Graduation from an accredited college or university with a bachelor's degree in public or business administration, 
management, or civil engineering; preferably possession of a master's degree in one of the above fields. 
Experience of an increasingly responsible nature in municipal administration; preferably some experience in 
local government finance and accounting; or any equivalent combination of training and experience that 
provides the required knowledge, skills and abilities. Must have or obtain valid North Carolina Driver’s 
License within 6 months of employment. 
 
 
Preferred Qualifications 
Professional certification from the International City Management Association (ICMA)  
Completion of the Municipal/County Administration Course from the School of Government 
  
  
The salary range for the position is $113,711 to $184,591. Salary and compensation are negotiable within 
the range based on experience and qualifications.    
 
To apply you must complete an online application https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/graham. 
 
Resumes and digital portfolios may be uploaded to the system but will not be accepted in lieu of a fully 
completed application.    All inquiries should be emailed to landrews@cityofgrham.com.  The application 
is due by July 11, 2021.  On site interviews and skill assessment will be held in Graham.  The City of Graham 
is an Equal Opportunity Employer. 
 
Post:        06/09/2021 
Remove:  07/11/2021 
 

Page 138 of 138

https://www.governmentjobs.com/careers/graham

	June 8, 2021 Regular Session
	1. Consent Agenda:
	a.	Approve Minutes – May 11, 2021 Regular Session
	b.	Approve Tax Releases
	c.	Approve FY 2020-2021 Budget Amendments
	d.	Approve Resolution Establishing the American Rescue Plan Act Local Fiscal Recovery Fund
	e.	Authorize the City Manager, City Attorney, and City Clerk to effectuate the purchase of the properties located off W. Moore Street and Rogers Road identified by Alamance County Parcel ID#s: 144001, 143995, 143994, 143988, 143983, and 143984 pending the completion of the due diligence period
	f.	Approve Graham Police Department’s request to make application for the Community Oriented Policing Services grant issued by the US Department of Justice

	2. Old Business:
	a.	Public Hearing: CR2006 Truby Apartments. Request by Second Partners, LLC for Conditional Rezoning for multi-family apartments from Light Industrial for property located on Truby Drive (GPIN 8894453334)
	b.	Public Hearing: RZ2104 Jimmie Kerr Multi-Family. Request by Travers Webb for rezoning to R-MF from I-1 for approximately 11 acres on Jimmie Kerr Road (GPIN 8894469497 & 8894469816)
	c.	Public Hearing: Request from Charles Limuel Pierce to remove an unconstructed portion of an unconstructed alleyway off Climax Street

	3. Requests & Petitions from Citizens:
	a.	First Reading: Request from Jeff Collie and Josh Coe to Amend Chapter 8, Article VIII, Sec. 8-345 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Graham, North Carolina

	4. Recommendations from Planning Board:
	a. Public Hearing: RZ2105 Poplar Business.  Request by Joseph Mena to rezone 0.15 acres located at 608 Poplar Street from R-7 (High Density Residential) to B-2 (General Business) (GPIN 8874861063)

	5. Public Hearing: Adoption of Budget Ordinance for FY 2021-2022
	6. Board & Commission Appointments:  **seeking reappointment
	a. Appearance Commission:
	Wayne Brewer
	Zipporah W Clark Baldwin 
	Carmen Larimore 

	b. Historical Museum Advisory Board:
	Jeanette Beaudry 
	Nicki Grafos Smith 
	Bernadette Konzelmann 
	Kristofer Loy 
	L Scott Pickard 
	Noelle Purcell 

	c. Historic Resources Commission:
	Jeanette Beaudry 
	Jerome Bias
	Wayne Brewer 
	Zipporah W Clark Baldwin 
	Bernadette Konzelmann 
	Bonnie Whitaker

	d. Housing Authority:
	Lacy Allen 
	Larry Brooks 
	Thomas Foust 
	Shanelle Harvey 

	e. Planning Board/Board of Adjustment:
	Jerome Bias 
	Shanelle Harvey 
	L Scott Pickard 

	f. Recreation Commission:
	Amanda Archambeau 
	Tim Beshel 
	Laurie Pickard 

	g. Tree Board:
	Megan Buckner-Hickman 
	Carmen Larimore 


	7. City Manager Search Discussion
	8. Closed Session Pursuant to the Terms of N.C.G.S. §. 143-318-11 (a) (3) To consult with an attorney employed or retained by the public body in order to preserve the attorney-client privilege between the attorney and the public body, which privilege ...
	9. Issues Not on Tonight’s Agenda (Public Comment Period)


	Street Address: 608 Poplar St
	Tax Map: 
	GPIN: 
	R7: On
	R9: Off
	R12: Off
	R15: Off
	R18: Off
	RMF: Off
	RG: Off
	CR: Off
	CMXR: Off
	B1: Off
	B2: Off
	B3: Off
	CB: Off
	CMXC: Off
	OI: Off
	COI: Off
	I1: Off
	I2: Off
	CI: Off
	Historic: Off
	S Main StHwy 87: Off
	E Harden StHwy 54: Off
	Current Use: Residential
	Total Site Acres: 
	Property Owner: Joseph Mena
	Mailing Address: 5613 CHRISTIE LN
	City State Zip: Durham NC 27713
	Property Owner_2: On
	Other: 
	Name: Joseph Mena
	Mailing Address_2: 5613 Christie Ln
	City State Zip_2: Durham, NC 27713
	Phone: 9106204809
	Email: FIRSTONERESTORATION@GMAIL.COM
	R7_2: Off
	R9_2: Off
	R12_2: Off
	R15_2: Off
	R18_2: Off
	RMF_2: Off
	RG_2: Off
	CR_2: Off
	CMXR_2: Off
	B1_2: Off
	B2_2: On
	B3_2: Off
	CB_2: Off
	CMXC_2: Off
	OI_2: Off
	COI_2: Off
	I1_2: Off
	I2_2: Off
	CI_2: Off
	square footage and number of buildings: HOME IS CURRENTLY LISTED AS A RESIDENTIAL SINGLE FAMILY HOME WE ARE NEEDING TO RE-ZONE TO A B-2, LOOKING TO TURN HOME INTO A OFFICE. WE ARE THE ONLY PROPERTY IN THE CORNER NON-COMMERCIAL, WE ARE LOOKING TO GET PERMISSION TO CHANGE IT. 
	Site Plan Review Application must be attached to this: Off
	Date: 3/26/21


